FUNCTION OF PIAS PROTEINS IN STEROID RECEPTOR-DEPENDENT SIGNALING

Noora Kotaja

Institute of Biomedicine/Physiology University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the lecture hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, on November 16th, 2002, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2002

Supervised by

Professor Olli A. Jänne and Docent Jorma J. Palvimo

Reviewed by

Professor Lea Sistonen Åbo Akademi University, Turku and Docent Ismo Ulmanen National Public Health Institute, Helsinki

> ISBN 952-91-5187-X (nid.) ISBN 952-10-0747-8 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2002

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	8
1. PIAS protein family	8
1.1. Discovery of PIAS proteins	8
1.2. Structure of PIAS proteins	9
1.3. Expression of PIAS proteins	11
1.4. PIAS proteins in cytokine-signaling pathway	12
1.5. Other interaction partners and functions of PIAS proteins	13
2. Steroid receptor-mediated signaling	14
2.1. General transcription machinery	15
2.2. Nuclear receptor superfamily	16
2.3. Mode of steroid receptor action	17
2.3.1. Coactivators	19
Complexes with histone acetyltransferase activity	21
Complexes with ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activity	21
TRAP/DRIP complexes	22
2.3.2. Corepressors	22
2.4. Androgen receptor	23
3. COVALENT MODIFICATIONS IN NUCLEAR RECEPTOR FUNCTION	24
3.1. Modification of structural proteins of chromatin	24
3.2. Modification of transcription factors	25
3.2.1. Ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation	
4. SUMO-1 modification	27
4.1. Enzymes involved in SUMO modification pathway	
4.1.1. E1, E2 and E3 activities	29
4.1.2. SUMO C-terminal hydrolases and isopeptidases	30
4.2. SUMO target proteins and possible functions of sumoylation	31
4.2.1. Regulation of protein targeting and protein–protein interactions	32
4.2.2. Sumoylation of transcription factors	33
4.2.3. Regulation of protein stability	34
4.3. Future perspectives	34
AIMS OF THE STUDY	

METHODS
THE SEQUENCES OF PIAS PROTEINS USED IN THIS STUDY
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
1. PIAS PROTEINS FUNCTION AS STEROID RECEPTOR COREGULATORS (I, II)
2. Domains important for coregulator function of PIAS proteins (I, II, III)38
3. PIAS proteins are modified by SUMO-1 (III)
4. PIAS proteins interact with SUMO-1-modified proteins and colocalize with SUMO-1 in nuclei (III)
5. PIAS proteins modulate transcription factors by functioning as SUMO-1 E3 LIGASES (III, IV)
6. SUMO-1 MODIFICATIONS REGULATE THE FUNCTION OF GRIP1 (III, IV)46
7. PIAS proteins cooperate with GRIP1 in steroid receptor-dependent transcription (II, IV)
CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES

ABSTRACT

Steroid hormones (sex steroids, glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids) control a wide range of biological functions connected to growth, development and homeostasis. The effects of steroid hormones are mediated by specific steroid receptors that are sequencespecific transcription factors belonging to the large family of nuclear receptors. The steroid receptors are activated upon ligand binding, which leads to dimerization of the receptors and binding to the promoter regions of their target genes. An increasing number of nuclear receptor coregulator proteins have been identified that interact with the receptors and either enhance or repress nuclear receptor-dependent transcription. ARIP3/PIASxa is an androgen receptor (AR)-interacting protein that modulates transcriptional activity of the receptor. It belongs to the PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT) protein family, which also includes Miz1/PIAS $x\beta$, GBP/PIAS1, PIAS3 and PIAS γ /y. Other PIAS family members have been shown to interact with and to modulate the activities of very dissimilar proteins. However, the high degree of sequence homology among PIAS proteins predicts similar functions. In this study, it was demonstrated that, in addition to ARIP3, also other PIAS proteins are able to modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcription albeit to a differential degree, depending on the receptor, the promoter and the cell type.

The activities of proteins are regulated by various covalent modifications, such as glycosylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation and ubiquitination. Covalent modifications of histones and non-histone proteins involved in the regulation of transcription modulate the functions of these proteins and thus have an influence on the transcriptional output. SUMO-1 (small ubiquitin-related modifier) modification leads to attachment of SUMO-1 to specific lysine residues of target proteins in a reaction mechanistically related to ubiquitination pathway. The biological importance of SUMO-1 modification is still unclear, but there is compelling evidence for an important role of sumoylation in the regulation of protein targeting and protein-protein interactions. Activities of transcription factors are also modulated by covalent SUMO-1 modifications.

In this study, ARIP3 and other PIAS proteins were shown to interact with SUMO-1 and its E2-type conjugase Ubc9. PIAS proteins were also targets for SUMO-1 modification, and they bound other sumoylated proteins in a non-covalent fashion. Importantly, a novel function for the PIAS proteins was discovered, and ARIP3 and PIAS1 were demonstrated to act as E3 SUMO-1 ligases capable of enhancing sumoylation of several transcriptional regulators such as AR, c-Jun and the coactivator protein GRIP1. The SUMO ligase activity of PIAS proteins was dependent on the PIAS RING finger-like domain that was also critical for PIAS proteins to function as steroid receptor coregulators. The most of the effects of PIAS proteins on steroid receptor-mediated signaling were suggested to be exerted through SUMO E3 ligase and SUMO-tethering activities. Consistent with the ability of PIAS proteins to enhance sumoylation of GRIP1, PIAS proteins and GRIP1 interacted with each other and cooperated in steroid receptordependent transcription. In keeping with these results, mutation of the main SUMO-1 attachment sites of GRIP1 blunted its coactivator function and abolished the cooperation with PIAS proteins. In summary, this study has clarified the function of PIAS proteins and the mechanisms of steroid hormone signaling. Furthermore, these results suggest an emerging importance of SUMO-1 modifications in the regulation of transcription.

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Kotaja N, Aittomäki S, Silvennoinen O, Palvimo JJ, and Jänne OA (2000) ARIP3 (androgen receptor-interacting protein 3) and other PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT) proteins differ in their ability to modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcriptional activation. Mol Endocrinol 14: 1986-2000
- II Kotaja N, Vihinen M, Palvimo JJ, and Jänne OA (2002) Androgen receptor-interacting protein 3 and other PIAS proteins cooperate with glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1 in steroid receptor-dependent signaling. J Biol Chem 277: 17781-17788
- **III** Kotaja N, Karvonen U, Jänne OA, and Palvimo JJ (2002) PIAS proteins modulate transcription factors by functioning as SUMO-1 ligases. Mol Cell Biol 22: 5222-5234
- IV Kotaja N, Karvonen U, Jänne OA, and Palvimo JJ (2002) The nuclear receptor interaction domain of GRIP1 is modulated by covalent attachment of SUMO-1. J Biol Chem 277: 30283-30288

The original publications are reproduced with permission of the copyright holders.

ABBREVIATIONS

AD	activation domain
AF	activation function
AIS	androgen insensitivity syndrome
AR	androgen receptor
ARE	androgen response element
ARIP3	androgen receptor-interacting protein 3
CARM1	coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1
CBP	CREB-binding protein
COS-1	SV40 transformed monkey kidney cell line
CRFB	cAMP responsive element-hinding protein
CTD	C-terminal domain of the largest subunit of RNA polymerase II
DBD	DNA-binding domain
	vitamin D recentor interacting protein
EGED	enhanced green fluorescent protein
EOFI	estrogen recentor
	estrogen receptor
CDD	Cy/DNA holiooso II hinding motoin
CD	Gu/KNA helicase fi-binding protein
CDID1	glucocontionid receptor
OKIPI	glucocorticola receptor-interacting protein 1
CTE	giutamone S-transferase
GIF	general transcription factor
HAI	histone decetyliransierase
HDAC	histone deacetylase
песа	human cervix carcinoma cen nne
ПМU	high moonly group
пѕр	ligand hinding domain
LUC Mi-1	Iucherase Man interacting ring fingen
MIZI	Misx-interacting zinc finger
MMIV	mouse mammary tumor virus
MK	mineralocorticold receptor
N-COK	nuclear receptor corepressor
NID	nuclear receptor interaction domain
NK	nuclear receptor
NID	N-terminal domain
PIAS	protein inhibitor of activated STAT
PIC	preinitiation complex
PML	promyelocytic leukemia gene product
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PR	progesterone receptor
RAR	retinoid acid receptor
RNAP II	RNA polymerase II
RXR	retinoid X receptor
SAP	SAF-A/B, Acinus and PIAS motif
SMRT	silencing mediator for retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptors
SRC	steroid receptor coactivator
STAT	signal transducers and activators of transcription
SUMO-1	small ubiquitin-like modifier 1
TAF	TBP-associated factor
TBP	TATA-binding protein
TR	thyroid hormone receptor
TRAP	thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein
UBA	ubiquitin-associated domain
Ubc9	ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9 (SUMO-conjugating E2 enzyme)
UIM	ubiquitin-interacting motif
VDR	vitamin D_3 receptor
ZF	zinc finger

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. PIAS PROTEIN FAMILY

The PIAS protein family is a small group of nuclear proteins, including PIAS1/GBP, PIAS3, ARIP3/PIASx α , Miz1/PIASx β and PIAS γ /y (Chung et al. 1997, Valdez et al. 1997, Wu et al. 1997, Liu et al. 1998, Moilanen et al. 1999, Sturm et al. 2000). The members of the PIAS family were found in yeast two-hybrid screens using various proteins, mostly transcription factors, as baits. In addition to these interactions, PIAS proteins have recently been reported to interact with and to modulate the activities of number of other proteins. PIAS proteins are evolutionary conserved, since homologues of mammalian PIAS protein encoded by the *Drosophila melanogaster* gene *Zimp* (Mohr and Boswell 1999), a predicted *Caenorhabditis elegans* protein, the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* septin-interacting protein Nfi1p and putative proteins from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, *Vicia faba* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* share sequence homology with PIAS proteins. The physiological importance of PIAS proteins is underscored by the finding that *Zimp* is an essential gene in *Drosophila* (Mohr and Boswell 1999).

1.1. Discovery of PIAS proteins

The PIAS protein family is named according to the members that were first characterized in cytokine signaling as Protein Inhibitors of Activated STATs (signal transducer and activator of transcription). PIAS3 (protein inhibitor of activated Stat3) was demonstrated to interact with Stat3 and inhibit Stat3-dependent signaling (Chung et al. 1997). PIAS1 was found in a yeast two-hybrid screen of a human B cell library with Stat1 devoid of the Cterminal transcriptional activation domain as bait (Liu et al. 1998). The other PIAS family members PIAS3, PIASx α , PIASx β and PIASy were found by EST database searching and library screening using the PIAS1 sequence as a probe (Liu et al. 1998). PIAS proteins have also been found to interact with other proteins unrelated to the STATs. Miz1 (Msxinteracting zinc-finger) was found in a yeast two-hybrid screen using a mouse E14.5 day cDNA library and full-length Msx2 as bait (Wu et al. 1997). Msx2 is a homeodomaincontaining protein that functions in the regulation of inductive tissue interactions (Wu et al. 1997). Wu et al. described Miz1 as a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein and a positive-acting transcription factor that is able to enhance the DNA binding of Msx2. Miz1 is a mouse counterpart of human PIASx β , but the Miz1 form studied by Wu et al. lacked the nucleotides encoding the first 131 amino acids of PIASx β . ARIP3 (androgen receptorinteracting protein 3) was discovered when a region of androgen receptor (AR) including

the DNA-binding domain and part of the hinge region was used as bait to screen a mouse embryo E10.5 library (Moilanen et al. 1999, Fig. 1). Rat ARIP3 corresponds to human PIASx α . The first 550 amino acids of PIASx α and PIASx β are identical, and they differ only in their C termini. Thus, they most probably represent splicing variants encoded by the same gene. Gu/RNA helicase II-binding protein (GBP) bound to the helicase II in a yeast two-hybrid screen using a human B lymphocyte cDNA library (Valdez et al. 1997). GBP is almost identical to PIAS1; it lacks only the first nine amino acids, and displays a few amino acid differences when compared to PIAS1 sequence. KChAP (K⁺ channelassociated protein) was discovered when a yeast two-hybrid screen of rat brain cDNA library was performed with the full-length Kv β 1.2 subunit of the K⁺ channel as bait (Wible et al. 1998). Rat KChAP is almost identical to PIAS3, and it was termed PIAS3 β to distinguish it from the original mouse PIAS3 clone (Wible et al. 2002). The N-terminal region of KChAP contains an in-frame insertion of 39 amino acids, which is lacking from mouse PIAS3 but not from human PIAS3.



Fig. 1. Schematic structure of ARIP3. Arrows depict LXXLL motifs starting form amino acids 19 and 304, and related LXXLI motifs starting from amino acids 157 and 399. The SAP motif, the putative RING finger-like structure, the SUMO-1 binding motif, and the region found to interact with AR in a yeast two-hybrid screen are indicated.

1.2. Structure of PIAS proteins

PIAS proteins share a high degree of sequence homology with the most conserved regions being the first 60 amino acids at their N terminus and the central domain containing a putative zinc-binding structure. The serine-rich C terminus of PIAS proteins is the least conserved part. In the N terminus, PIAS proteins have a SAP (SAF-A/B, Acinus and PIAS) motif predicted to be involved in sequence- or structure-specific DNA binding (Fig. 1, Aravind and Koonin 2000). SAP motif is found in the sequences of many chromatin-associated proteins, such as the scaffold attachment factors A and B (SAF-A and -B), plant poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and human Acinus (Romig et al. 1992, Renz and Fackelmayer 1996, Sahara et al. 1999). SAF-A and -B are nuclear proteins that bind to AT-rich chromosomal regions known as scaffold- or matrix-attachment regions (SAR/MAR) (Romig et al. 1992, Renz and Fackelmayer 1996). Mutations of SAF-A SAP motif result in

a complete loss of the DNA-binding activity (Göhring et al. 1997). By targeting proteins to specific chromosomal locations, SAP motif may contribute to the coupling of transcription with splicing and repair and to apoptotic degradation of chromatin (Aravind and Koonin 2000).



Fig. 2. Sequence alignment of the potential zinc finger region of PIASx and related proteins. The region of human (h) PIASx α containing the zinc finger structure (protein database sequence identification number GI:3643113; amino acids 332–428) was aligned with the same region of related proteins. hPIAS3 (4996563, amino acids 304–400); hPIAS1 (3643107, amino acids 320–416); hPIASy (7706230, amino acids 312–408); zimp = *Drosophila* Zimp-A (4761232, amino acids 311–410); ce = a predicted *C. elegans* protein (7509196, amino acids 357–453); Nf11p = *S. cerevisiae* Nf11 protein (2498628, amino acids 324–421); sp = a predicted protein from *S. pombe* (7493364, amino acids 291–388); vf = *V. faba* protein (2104683, amino acids 303–400). Black boxes and gray shadings depict amino acids that are identical or conserved among the sequences, respectively. Conserved cysteines (at least in four family members) and histidine are indicated by arrows, and the circle depicts the conserved Trp residue.

The central part of PIAS proteins is predicted to form a zinc-binding structure, termed Miz Zn-finger (Wu et al. 1997). All PIAS proteins except PIAS3, harbor seven cysteine residues and a histidine residue which are mandatory for a C_3HC_4 -type RING finger motif (Fig. 2, Joazeiro and Weissman 2000). Threading analysis of this PIAS region suggests that its three-dimensional structure is similar to a C_3HC_4 RING finger fold. However, the spacing between potential zinc-coordinating residues and the amino acid composition of mammalian PIAS RING-like structure differ substantially from the C_3HC_4 RING finger. Interestingly, PIAS3 does not have a cysteine residue at the fourth position of the putative C_3HC_4 motif.

The LXXLL motif is a short amino acid sequence involved in interactions of coactivators with the ligand-binding domain (LBD) of nuclear receptors (Heery et al. 1997). PIAS proteins have two LXXLL motifs starting at residues 19 and 304 in the ARIP3 sequence. The N-terminal LXXLL motif of PIASy is not involved in binding to

Stat1 or AR, but it is required for its inhibitory activity (Gross et al. 2001, Liu et al. 2001). PIAS proteins harbor a motif containing Ser and Glu/Asp residue-rich stretches preceded by hydrophobic residues C-terminal to the zinc-binding structure of PIAS proteins (amino acids 472-482 in ARIP3 sequence). A similar motif from the PM-Sc175 protein is suggested to act as a SUMO-1-interacting motif since it is sufficient for the interaction of PM-Sc175 with SUMO-1 in yeast (Minty et al. 2000).

1.3. Expression of PIAS proteins

The genes encoding PIAS proteins are located in distinct chromosomes in the human genome. The PIASy gene has been mapped to chromosomal location 19p13.3 (Sturm et al. 2001), the PIAS3 gene was localized to chromosome 1 (1q21) (Ueki et al. 1999) and the PIAS1 gene to chromosome sub-band 15q22 (Weiskirchen et al. 2001). BLAST search localized the PIASx gene to chromosome 18. ARIP3/PIASxa, PIAS1/GBP and PIASy are mainly expressed in testis, but low levels of mRNAs are also detected in other tissues (Valdez et al. 1997, Moilanen et al. 1999, Tan et al. 2000, Gross et al. 2001). In addition, EST database search with PIAS sequences revealed distribution of PIAS proteins in various tissues. Immunostaining of adult rat testis localized ARIP3 protein in the nuclei of Sertoli cells, spermatogonia, and primary spermatocytes (Moilanen et al. 1999). Likewise, PIAS1 protein is expressed in Sertoli cells, Leydig cells and spermatogenic cells including spermatocytes and round spermatids (Tan et al. 2000). Expression of PIAS1, PIASxa and PIASx β mRNA is detected by *in situ* hybridization throughout the germinal epithelium, but there are some regional differences: expression of PIAS1 is higher near the central region associated with round spermatids and PIASx α transcript is more abundant in the peripheral layers of cells such as Sertoli cells, spermatogonia and early spermatocytes (Tan et al. 2002). mRNA levels of PIAS1, PIASxα and PIASxβ in mouse testis increase during sexual development, which is consistent with the high expression in the developing spermatogenic cells (Tan et al. 2000 and 2002).

In contrast to PIAS1, PIASx α and PIASy, PIAS3 mRNA is widely expressed in various human tissues (Chung et al. 1997). Similarly, expression of KChAP/PIAS3 β is detected by northern blotting in a variety of tissues with especially high levels in lung and kidney (Wible et al. 1998). In addition to adult tissues, PIAS proteins are expressed during the embryonic development. Expression of PIAS γ (a mouse homologue of human PIASy), PIAS3 and GBP is detected in mouse embryos by RT-PCR as early as on embryonic day 7.5 (Sturm et al. 2000), and northern blot analysis of whole embryos reveals the presence of mouse Miz1 transcripts from embryonic day 9.5 onwards (Wu et al. 1997).

The factors regulating PIAS protein levels are unclear at the moment, but androgens have been shown to induce the expression of PIAS3 mRNA in LNCaP prostate carcinoma cells (Junicho et al. 2000). Estrogens induce the accumulation of PIAS3 mRNA

in multiple myeloma (MM) cells and increase the physical association of PIAS3 with Stat3, which is suggested to represent a possible mechanism for estrogen-mediated inhibition of IL-6-inducible MM cell proliferation (Wang et al. 2001b). Interestingly, downregulation or upregulation of PIAS protein expression that correlates with increased or decreased STAT activity, respectively, has been associated with many distinct clinical conditions, such as anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive T/null-cell lymphoma, acute hepatic failure and cystic fibrosis (Kamohara et al. 2000, Kelley and Elmer 2000, Zhang et al. 2002), as well as with physiological processes such as macrophage maturation (Coccia et al. 2002). Down-regulation of PIASy expression has also been detected in association with stage progression in chronic myeloid leukemia (Ohmine et al. 2001), and GBP/PIAS1 is down-regulated in RAS-transformed cells (Zuber et al. 2000).

1.4. PIAS proteins in cytokine-signaling pathway

STAT proteins are transcription factors that are activated by various cytokines (Leonard and O'Shea 1998, Ihle 2001). Binding of the cytokine to its cell surface receptor results in docking of STAT proteins to the receptor and tyrosine phosphorylation of STATs. Phosphorylated STATs form dimers and translocate to the nucleus where they bind to the promoter regions of their target genes and induce transcription (Leonard and O'Shea 1998). PIAS1 interacts with Stat1 and inhibits transcriptional activation by blocking the DNA-binding activity of Stat1 (Liu et al. 1998). This interaction is specific, since PIAS1 is not able to associate with other STAT proteins (Liu et al. 1998). Likewise, PIAS3 binds selectively to Stat3 and inhibits its DNA-binding and transcriptional activities (Chung et al. 1997). PIASy has also been shown to interact with and repress the transcriptional activity of Stat1, but in contrast to PIAS1, without blocking the Stat1 DNA-binding activity (Liu et al. 2001).

The association of Stat1 and Stat3 with PIAS1 and PIAS3, respectively, is detected only when STAT proteins are activated by ligands (Chung et al. 1997, Liu et al. 1998). Tyrosine phosphorylation of Stat1 is required for the interaction between Stat1 and PIAS1 *in vivo* (Liu et al. 1998). A separate study demonstrated that the dimerization of Stat1 is crucial for Stat1-PIAS1 interaction, since PIAS1 is able to bind a Stat1 dimer, but not a tyrosine-phosphorylated or unphosphorylated Stat1 monomer (Liao et al. 2000). The nature of Stat1-PIAS1 interaction has been further defined by Mowen and colleagues, who found that Stat1 dimers are methylated and that methylation prevents PIAS1 from binding to the Stat1 dimer (Mowen et al. 2001). The importance of PIAS proteins in STAT-mediated signaling is supported by the finding that the amounts *Drosophila* PIAS protein (dPIAS) and STAT protein (STAT92E) have to be correctly balanced for the normal blood cell and eye development to occur (Betz et al. 2001).

1.5. Other interaction partners and functions of PIAS proteins

During the last few years, PIAS proteins have been reported to interact with various proteins distinct from their original interaction partners, and different functions have been suggested for the PIAS proteins (Table 1). ARIP3/PIASxa associates with DJ-1, a protein connected to male rat infertility (Takahashi et al. 2001a). Since ARIP3/PIASxa is able to repress AR-dependent transcription, DJ-1 was suggested to function as a positive regulator of AR by impairing the binding of ARIP3/PIASxα to the receptor (Takahashi et al. 2001a). ARIP3/PIASxa was also found to interact with the p67 isoform of mouse disabled 2 (mDab2) in differentiating F9 cells (Cho et al. 2000). The function of mDab2 is not clear, but it has been suggested to play a role in signal transduction. In addition to interaction with Stat3, PIAS3 has been found to bind to many different proteins in yeast two-hybrid screens. The zinc finger protein Gfi-1 interacts with PIAS3 and enhances Stat3 signaling by blocking the repressive activity of PIAS3 (Rödel et al. 2000). PIAS3 also associates with and represses the transcriptional activity of the microphthalmia transcription factor (MITF) that plays a role in mast cell and melanocyte development (Levy et al. 2002). Zentner et al. (2001) demonstrated that PIAS3 binds to high mobility group protein HMGI-C and corepresses GR and Stat3 signaling pathways with HMGI-C in salivary epithelial cells. PIAS1 was recently reported to be a binding partner of CRP2 (cysteine- and glycinerich protein 2) (Weiskirchen et al. 2001).

Both PIAS1 and PIASy have been found to interact with p53 tumor suppressor protein in yeast two-hybrid assays (Nelson et al. 2001, Megidish et al. 2002). In contrast to PIASy that inhibits p53-dependent transactivation (Nelson et al. 2001), PIAS1 is capable of activating p53-mediated gene expression in variety of cell lines (Megidish et al. 2002). In line with the ability of PIAS1 to enhance the transcriptional activity of the proapoptotic protein p53, PIAS proteins have been demonstrated to possess proapoptotic activity (Liu and Shuai 2001). PIAS1 is able to induce apoptosis through activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and the proapoptotic function of PIAS1 is independent of the inhibitory activity of PIAS1 in STAT-mediated gene activation (Liu and Shuai 2001). KChAP/PIAS3 β that functions as a chaperone for specific Kv channels, is also able to induce K⁺ efflux and apoptosis in prostate cancer cells (Wible et al. 1998, Kuryshev et al. 2000).

An important role of PIAS proteins in chromosome organization was demonstrated by studies showing that Su(var)2-10 locus in the *Drosophila* genome encoding a PIAS protein is required for proper chromosome structure and chromosome inheritance (Hari et al. 2001). Further evidence for the role of PIAS proteins in chromosome organization is offered by Strunnikov et al. (2001), who showed that defects in chromosome condensation in *S. cerevisiae* caused by the loss of SMT4 gene are bypassed when the SIZ1 gene encoding a yeast homologue of mammalian PIAS proteins is overexpressed. This finding links PIAS proteins to SUMO-1 modification processes, since SMT encodes an evolutionarily conserved protease exhibiting SUMO-cleaving isopeptidase activity.

PIAS protein	Interaction partner in the original yeast two-hybrid screen	other interactions			
ARIP3/PIASxα	AR (Moilanen et al. 1999)	GR, PR, ER	Kotaja et al. 2000		
		DJ-1	Takahashi et al. 2001a		
		mDab2	Cho et al. 2000		
		p73	Minty et al. 2000		
Miz1/PIASxβ	Msx2 (Wu et al. 1997)	AR, GR, PR, ER	Kotaja et al. 2000		
		p73	Minty et al. 2000		
PIAS1	Stat1 (Liu et al. 1998)	AR	Tan et al. 2000		
		CRP2	Weiskirchen et al. 2001		
		p53	Megidish et al. 2002		
		TTF-1	Missero et al. 2001		
GBP	Gu/RNA helicase II				
	(Valdez et al. 1997)				
PIAS3		Stat3	Chung et al. 1997		
		AR	Junicho et al. 2000		
		Gfi-1	Rödel et al. 2000		
		MITF	Levy et al. 2002		
		HMGI-C	Zentner et al. 2001		
		TTF-1	Missero et al. 2001		
KChAP	$Kv\beta 1.2$ (Wible et al. 1998)				
PIASy		Stat1	Liu et al. 2001		
		AR	Gross et al. 2001		
		p53	Nelson et al. 2001		
		LEF1	Sachdev et al. 2001		

Table 1. The interaction partners of PIAS proteins

2. Steroid receptor-mediated signaling

Living cells have to respond to a high number of signals that they receive constantly from their environment. Signaling molecules can be secreted by distant endocrine organs and transported to target cells via circulation (endocrine signaling). On the other hand, signals can be produced by surrounding cells (paracrine signaling) or by the target cell itself (autocrine signaling). Many kinds of signaling molecules, such as lipid-soluble hormones, small peptides, polypeptides and lipids, exist. Signaling molecules are detected by receptors located either on the cell surface or inside the cell. Binding of a ligand to a cell surface receptor usually activates a cascade of protein phosphorylation events finally leading to activation of transcription factors that can induce transcription of target genes. Nuclear receptors, in turn, have lipid-soluble ligands that can penetrate through the cell membrane and bind to their cognate intracellular receptors. Steroid hormone receptors belong to the nuclear receptor superfamily that also include receptors for thyroid hormones, vitamin D, and retinoids, and thus regulate a broad range of functions connected to growth, development and homeostasis. These receptors are ligand-regulated sequence-specific transcription factors that bind to specific hormone response elements usually located at promoter regions of their target genes, and thereby regulate transcription. In addition to the receptors and general transcription. These coactivators and corepressors bind to receptors or other coregulators, and they either enhance or repress receptor-mediated transcription.

2.1. General transcription machinery

Promoters of mRNA-encoding genes contain three types of DNA elements. Basal promoter elements such as the TATA-box and the initiator motif (Inr) are located near the start site of transcription and bind proteins belonging to the general transcription machinery (Goodrich et al. 1996). Promoter proximal elements located upstream of the start site, and distal enhancer elements that can be located many thousands of base pairs from the start site, bind sequence-specific transcription factors. General transcription machinery containing RNA polymerase II and general transcription factors (GTFs) is sufficient to promote basal gene transcription *in vitro*. However, sequence-specific transcription factors as well as numerous different coregulator proteins, such as those with chromatin remodeling activities, are required for efficient transcription and specific regulation of gene expression *in vivo* (Orphanides et al. 1996, Woychik and Hampsey 2002).

Genes encoding mRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase II (RNAP II). General transcription factors needed for RNAP II-mediated basal transcription include TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH (Orphanides et al. 1996, Woychik and Hampsey 2002). TFIID is composed of TATA-binding protein (TBP) and TBP-associated factors (TAFs). The TBP subunit of TFIID binds to TATA box, which is a DNA element located 25-30 bp upstream of the transcription start site. The binding is followed by the recruitment of TFIIB, which, in turn, binds RNAP II and associated TFIIF. The preinitiation complex (PIC) is complete after the entry of TFIIE and TFIIH (Orphanides et al. 1996, Woychik and Hampsey 2002). TFIIH contains a kinase subunit that phosphorylates the C-terminal domain (CTD) of the largest subunit of RNAP II after initiation of

transcription is crucial for gene expression, since this modification is required for progression of transcription into the elongation phase (Dahmus 1996).

2.2. Nuclear receptor superfamily

The nuclear receptor superfamily comprises a large family of proteins (49 genes in the human genome), including the receptors for steroid hormones (androgens, estrogens, progestins, mineralocorticoids and glucocorticoids), retinoids, vitamin D and thyroid hormones (Beato et al. 1995, Mangelsdorf et al. 1995, Aranda and Pascual 2001). In addition, the superfamily includes so-called orphan receptors that share a similar structure with other receptors, but they are not activated by ligands, or their ligands are still unidentified (Giguere 1999). Identification of ligands for the orphan receptors has been a subject for intense studies, and novel ligands, both natural and synthetic compounds, have been characterized; PPAR (peroxisome proliferator activated receptor) is activated by prostaglandins and unsaturated fatty acids, PXR (pregnane X receptor) by pregnanes, CAR (constitutive androstane receptor) by androstanes, LXR (liver X receptor) by oxysterols, and FXR (farnesoid X receptor) by bile acids (Giguere 1999).



Fig. 3. Modular structure of nuclear receptors. NTD, the N-terminal transactivation domain; DBD, the DNAbinding domain; H, the hinge region; LBD, the ligand-binding domain. The main functions of each domain are shown. The numbers depict the number of amino acid residues in the four domains in different nuclear receptors.

Nuclear receptors share a conserved modular structure (Fig. 3). The three major functional domains are (i) the N-terminal transactivation domain (NTD), (ii) the DNAbinding domain (DBD), and (iii) the C-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD). The short nonconserved region between the DBD and the LBD is called the hinge region. The most variable region of nuclear receptors both in sequence and size is the NTD. The threedimensional structure of this domain has not been resolved. Most of the nuclear receptors, such as AR and glucocorticoid receptor (GR), have a ligand-independent transcriptional activation function (AF1) in their NTD (Hollenberg and Evans 1988, Tora et al. 1989, Simental et al. 1991). The NTD has been suggested to function by binding general transcription factors (Beato and Sanchez-Pacheco 1996, Ford et al. 1997) and coregulator proteins (Ikonen et al. 1997, Onate et al. 1998, Alen et al. 1999, Bevan et al. 1999, Hittelman et al. 1999, Ma et al. 1999, Wallberg et al. 1999). In the case of AR, the NTD also participates in intramolecular interactions with the LBD of the receptor (Kraus et al. 1995, Ikonen et al. 1997).

The DBD located in the central part of the receptor is the most conserved region among nuclear receptors. The three-dimensional structures of the DBD of many nuclear receptors have been resolved by nuclear magnetic resonance or crystallographic studies (Härd et al. 1990, Schwabe et al. 1990 and 1993, Luisi et al. 1991). The DBD harbors two zinc fingers that are formed when four cysteine residues coordinately bind a zinc ion in each of the two motifs. The first zinc finger is critical for specific DNA contacts, and the second zinc finger interacts with the DNA phosphate backbone and is involved in receptor dimerization (Freedman 1992, Quigley et al. 1995). In addition to DNA binding and dimerization, the DBD of nuclear receptors is involved in interactions with coregulators (Moilanen et al. 1998a, 1998b and 1999, Blanco et al. 1998, Puigserver et al. 1998), and it is also required for cross-talk with other transcription factors such as NF-κB and AP-1 (Schüle et al. 1990, Ray and Prefontaine 1994, Aarnisalo et al. 1999).

The LBD contains the ligand-binding pocket, activation function 2 (AF2) and dimerization surface. The crystal structures of various nuclear receptors have revealed a common structure with 12 α helices and one β turn arranged as an antiparallel α -helical sandwich in a three-layer structure (Bourguet et al. 1995, Renaud et al. 1995, Wagner et al. 1995, Wurtz et al. 1996, Brzozowski et al. 1997, Nolte et al. 1998, Williams and Sigler 1998). Upon binding of the ligand, specific α helices are repositioned leading to sealing of the ligand-binding cavity with helix H12. The ligand-induced repositioning of H12 provides the surface(s) for coactivator interactions and generates the active AF2. The crystal structure of estrogen receptor α (ER α) LBD complexed with the antagonist raloxifen shows that the antagonist induces a conformation distinct from the agonistinduced conformation; in the antagonist-induced conformation, H12 is placed in an "antagonist position" (Brzozowski et al. 1997). This conformation blocks the surface formed by helices H12, H3, H4 and H5 normally used for the binding of an LXXLL motif of TIF2/GRIP1, a member of SRC family of nuclear receptor coactivators (Shiau et al. 1998). The crystal structure of PPAR α LBD bound to an antagonist and a SMRT corepressor motif shows that the antagonist-bound receptor adopts a conformation, which facilitates the binding of corepressors (Xu et al. 2002).

2.3. Mode of steroid receptor action

In an inactive state, steroid receptors are associated with large multiprotein complexes, including heat shock proteins Hsp90, Hsp56, Hsp70 and p23 (Beato et al. 1996, Pratt and

Toft 1997). In these complexes, the receptors are maintained in a high-affinity ligand binding form. Binding of a ligand induces a conformational change in the receptor structure that leads to dissociation of heat shock proteins and allows dimerization of the receptors (Fig. 4, Pratt and Toft 1997, Moras and Gronemeyer 1998). To activate gene transcription, nuclear receptors have to be transported to the nucleus. The cellular localization prior to ligand binding varies among different steroid receptors. GR is predominantly located in the cytoplasm, and ligand induces its nuclear transport (Picard and Yamamoto 1987, Sackey et al. 1996). In contrast to GR, unliganded ER and progesterone receptor (PR) seem to be mostly nuclear (Htun et al. 1999, Lim et al. 1999). AR has been reported to be both nuclear and cytoplasmic depending on the experimental conditions used (Jenster et al. 1993, Zhou et al. 1994, Karvonen et al. 1997).



Fig. 4. Mode of steroid receptor action. R, steroid receptor; H, hormone; hsp, heat shock protein; HRE, hormone response element; PIC, preinitiation complex. Upon hormone binding, receptors dimerize, bind to the hormone response element and thereby regulate the gene transcription. Coregulator proteins bind to the receptor dimer and modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcription.

Nuclear receptors are grouped into four classes according to their ligand-binding, DNA-binding and dimerization properties (Mangelsdorf et al. 1995). Class I nuclear receptors including steroid receptors form homodimers, but some members of this class are also suggested to form heterodimers (Trapp et al. 1994, Liu et al. 1995, Cowley et al. 1997, Lee et al. 1999). Class II receptors, such as vitamin D receptor (VDR), retinoic acid receptor (RAR), PPARs and thyroid hormone receptor (TR), heterodimerize with retinoid X receptor (RXR). Class III contains some orphan receptors that bind DNA as homodimers, and class IV orphan receptors bind DNA as monomers (Mangelsdorf et al. 1995). AR, GR, PR and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) homodimers are capable of binding to the palindromes of the sequence AGAACA separated by three nucleotides (5'-AGAACAnnnTGTTCT-3'), whereas ER recognizes the palindromic consensus sequence 5'-AGGTCAnnnTGACCT-3'. Class II nuclear receptors bind preferentially to direct repeats separated by one to five nucleotides (DR1-5), but they can also recognize response elements in palindromic or inverted palindromic configurations (Glass 1994, Aranda and Pascual 2001). In addition to the positive response elements that mediate receptor-dependent activation of gene expression, so-called negative response elements that bind the receptors and mediate negative regulation by the ligand have been reported (Sakai et al. 1988, Drouin et al. 1989, Zhang et al. 1997).

Most of the steroid receptors excluding ER are able to recognize the same response element, and they also have overlapping expression patterns. This raises a question of how the receptor specific actions are achieved *in vivo*. One possibility is that the binding of other transcription factors to the same promoter region modulate the specificity of the receptor. In addition, the promoter regions of many natural target genes of steroid receptors, especially those of AR, contain "modified" response elements with enhanced affinity to specific receptors (Claessens et al. 1996, Zhou et al. 1997, Schoenmakers et al. 1999 and 2000, Verrijdt et al. 2000). These findings are, however, unlikely to be the only explanations for the specificity of target gene activation. A new aspect to the regulation of steroid receptor-dependent transcription was introduced with the discovery of an increasing number of coregulator proteins (Fig. 5).

2.3.1. Coactivators

Coactivators do not usually possess DNA-binding activity, but they interact with the DNAbound receptor or with other receptor-bound coregulators, and enhance the steroid receptor-dependent transcription. Coactivators form large coactivator complexes, and it is suggested that the nuclear receptor-mediated transcription requires several different protein complexes that may act sequentially, combinatorially or in parallel (Fig. 5, Glass and Rosenfeld 2000, Hermanson et al. 2002, McKenna and O'Malley 2002). The coactivator complexes with histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity promote transcription by acetylating histone tails which is known to "loosen" nucleosome structures making genes more accessible for transcription. The complexes with ATP-dependent chromatinremodeling activities also enhance transcription by opening up tightly packed chromatin. In addition, the multiprotein TRAP/DRIP/Mediator complex interacts with both receptor dimers and general transcription machinery and thus functions as a bridging factor between them. Steroid receptors and coactivators have been suggested to bind to the promoters in a cyclic fashion so that the binding of the receptor dimer is followed by the recruitment of different coactivator complexes, after which dissociation of proteins takes place and the cycle is repeated (Shang et al. 2000, Burakov et al. 2002).

In addition to the above-described proteins that function as acetyltransferases, ATPases and mediators, many other coactivators with different functions have been reported (McKenna et al. 1999). The E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase E6-AP interacts with and coactivates steroid receptors in a fashion that is independent of its ligase activity (Nawaz et al. 1999a, Smith et al. 2002). The small nuclear RING finger protein SNURF that is able to bind steroid receptors and modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcription is also a potential ubiquitin E3 ligase (Moilanen et al. 1998a, our unpublished results). The high-mobility group proteins 1 and 2 (HMG-1 and -2) – chromatin non-histone proteins that bind DNA and induce bends in DNA – increase the sequence-specific DNA-binding and transcriptional activity of steroid receptors (Boonyaratanakornkit et al. 1998). Furthermore, the androgen receptor-interacting nuclear protein kinase (ANPK/HIPK3) is a Ser/Thr protein kinase capable of enhancing AR-mediated transcription (Moilanen et al. 1998b). Interestingly, the steroid receptor RNA activator (SRA) that selectively coactivates AF1 of steroid receptors, differs from other coactivators in that the functional form of SRA is not a protein but a RNA transcript (Lanz et al. 1999).



Fig. 5. Coactivator and corepressor complexes modulate the activity of nuclear receptors (NR). Coactivators form distinct complexes with different functional properties: ATPase activity-containing complexes are able to remodel chromatin, HAT-containing complexes acetylate histones and TRAP/DRIP complexes mediate interaction between receptors and general transcription machinery. Corepressor complexes contain histone deacetylase activities (HDAC). Double-headed arrows show the interactions between coregulators and receptors. RNAPII: RNA polymerase II; B, E, F and H: TFIIB, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH, respectively (adapted from Glass and Rosenfeld 2000).

Complexes with histone acetyltransferase activity

The best-characterized coactivator family, the SRC family (the p160 family), includes SRC-1/NCoA-1 (Oñate et al. 1995, Kamei et al. 1996), GRIP1/TIF2/SRC-2 (Hong et al. 1996, Voegel et al. 1996), pCIP/TRAM-1/RAC3/ACTR/AIB-1/SRC-3 (Anzick et al. 1997, Chen et al. 1997, Li et al. 1997, Takeshita et al. 1997, Torchia et al. 1997). The nuclear receptor interaction domain (NID) of the SRC family members contain three LXXLL signature motifs, where L represents leucine residue and X represents any amino acid (Heery et al. 1997). The LXXLL motifs have a well-characterized role in the binding of the coactivator to the LBD of the receptor (Darimont et al. 1998, Shiau et al. 1998). The LXXLL-LBD interaction is ligand-dependent and in the absence of ligand, or in the presence of antagonist, the surface for the binding of the LXXLL peptide is blocked (Shiau et al. 1998). The NID that is located in the central part of SRC proteins is not, however, the only region binding to nuclear receptors, since the C-terminal region of SRC-2/GRIP1 has been shown to mediate the binding to the AF1 of AR (Alen et al. 1999, Ma et al. 1999). The physiological importance of the SRC proteins has been demonstrated by gene targeting in mice (Xu et al. 1998 and 2000). Disruption of the SRC-1 gene caused partial resistance to steroid hormones (Xu et al. 1998). The expression of another family member, SRC-2/GRIP1, was increased in the SRC-1 null mice suggesting that SRC-2/GRIP1 might compensate partially for the loss of SRC-1 (Xu et al. 1998). Disruption of the SRC-3 gene had more severe effects resulting in dwarfism, delayed puberty, reduced female reproductive function, and blunted mammary gland development (Xu et al. 2000). SRC-1 and SRC-3 harbor HAT activities (Chen et al. 1997, Spencer et al. 1997), but a more important function of these proteins seems to be the recruitment of other HAT coactivators to the promoter-bound receptor dimer. The SRC family members interact with CBP (CREB-binding protein) and a highly related p300 (Kamei et al. 1996, Torchia et al. 1997, Voegel et al. 1998). CBP and p300 have been demonstrated to play important roles in the nuclear receptor function (Chakravarti et al. 1996, Hanstein et al. 1996, Kamei et al. 1996, Yao et al. 1998). CBP/p300 exhibits a strong HAT activity (Ogryzko et al. 1996), and it also recruits another HAT activity, P/CAF, to the coactivator complex (Blanco et al. 1998). The SRC family members interact also with other enzymatic activities, such as the arginine methyltransferase CARM1 (Chen et al. 1999a).

Complexes with ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activity

The yeast SWI/SNF complex possesses ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling activity, and it is able to cause local changes in chromatin structure and thus facilitate the binding of sequence-specific transcription factors to the nucleosomal DNA (McKenna et al. 1999, Glass and Rosenfeld 2000). The ATPase activity-containing component of the yeast SWI/SNF complex is encoded by *swi2* and *snf2* genes. Importance of these factors in

nuclear receptor function has been demonstrated. Mammalian homologues of yeast SWI2 and SNF2, hBRM and BRG-1, interact with ER in a ligand-dependent manner (Ichinose et al. 1997). In addition, the activity of GR in yeast requires SWI/SNF factors (Yoshinaga et al. 1992), and interaction with BRG-1-containing complexes is required for GR function on a stably integrated MMTV promoter (Fryer and Archer 1998).

TRAP/DRIP complexes

TRAP (TR-associated protein) and DRIP (VDR-interacting protein) complexes are homologous multiprotein complexes that were originally found to associate with TR or VDR, respectively (Fondell et al. 1996, Rachez et al. 1998). TRAP and DRIP complexes are able to enhance transcriptional activity of TR and VDR in cell-free systems, and DRIP complex stimulates hormone-dependent transactivation by VDR also on chromatin templates (Fondell et al. 1996, Rachez et al. 1998, Rachez et al. 1999). Many components of the TRAP/DRIP complex are present in a mammalian complex corresponding to the yeast mediator, and the TRAP/DRIP complex also shares similar components with SMCC (SRB/mediator coactivator complex), NAT (negative regulator of activated transcription), and CRSP (cofactor required for Sp1 activation) complexes (Hampsey and Reinberg 1999, Glass and Rosenfeld 2000). The TRAP/DRIP complex has been suggested to function by mediating the interaction between nuclear receptors and general transcription machinery (McKenna et al. 1999, Glass and Rosenfeld 2000). TRAP220 protein in the TRAP/DRIP complex mediates the interaction with the nuclear receptors by binding directly to the LBD of the receptors (Yuan et al. 1998). TRAP220 is essential for embryonic development since mice lacking the *trap220* gene die during an early gestational stage (Ito et al. 2000). Primary embryonic fibroblasts of TRAP220 null mutants show impaired TR function (Ito et al. 2000).

2.3.2. Corepressors

Class II NRs can bind DNA in the absence of a ligand and repress transcription of the target genes. Repression may be passive resulting from competition for DNA binding sites with active transcription factors or formation of inactive heterodimers with other receptors. On the other hand, unliganded NRs bound to DNA may also actively repress the initiation of transcription, either directly or indirectly with the help of other factors (McKenna et al. 1999, Glass and Rosenfeld 2000). N-CoR (NR corepressor) and highly related SMRT (silencing mediator for RAR and TR) are corepressor proteins that bind unliganded NRs and inhibit transcription (Chen and Evans 1995, Hörlein et al. 1995). N-CoR and SMRT interact with Sin3 protein, which, in turn, recruits multiprotein complexes containing histone deacetylase (HDAC) activities (Heinzel et al. 1997, Nagy et al. 1997). By this

means, repression of gene transcription by NRs can be mediated through recruitment of HDAC complexes and deacetylation of histones.

The steroid receptors do not show DNA-binding activity in the absence of hormone. However, an antagonist-bound steroid receptor is able to dimerize and bind to DNA, but the resultant receptor dimer is unable to stimulate transcription. SMRT and N-CoR have been shown to interact with antagonist-bound steroid receptors, and the recruitment of these corepressors seems to be essential for the activity of ER and PR antagonists (Jackson et al. 1997, Smith et al. 1997, Wagner et al. 1998, Zhang et al. 1998). Additionally, many different proteins have been reported to interact with ligand-activated NRs and negatively regulate their transcriptional activity. For example, RIP140 is able to repress transcriptional activity of various NRs (Treuter et al. 1998, Subramaniam et al. 1999), and the members of PIAS protein family can either enhance or repress steroid receptor-dependent transcription depending the cell line and the promoter studied (Kotaja et al. 2000, Tan et al. 2000, Gross et al. 2001).

2.4. Androgen receptor

Androgens play a crucial role in the male sexual development and in the maintenance of the male phenotype. Two main physiological androgens are testosterone and 5α -dihydrotestosterone. The latter one is converted from testosterone by the 5α -reductase enzyme. The effects of androgens are mediated by AR that was cloned and sequenced in 1988 (Chang et al. 1988, Lubahn et al. 1988). The AR gene is located in X chromosome. The AR protein is expressed in a wide variety of genital and nongenital tissues (Quigley et al. 1995). A number of AR target genes have been identified, but the physiological functions of some of these genes remain to be established. Examples of the AR responsive genes include probasin, C3(1) gene of prostatic binding protein, prostate-specific antigen (PSA), human glandular kallikrein-1 (hKLK2) and sex-limited protein (Slp) (Claessens et al. 1989, Adler et al. 1992, Murtha et al. 1993, Rennie et al. 1993, Cleutjens et al. 1996). Androgens have also been reported to regulate the expressions of some cell cycle regulatory proteins such as the cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2), the CDK4, and the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p16 and p21 (Lu et al. 1997 and 1999).

Various diseases are associated with defects in the function of AR protein, and a wide spectrum AR gene mutations have been characterized (Quigley et al. 1995). Diseases associated with the mutated AR include androgen insensitivity syndrome (AIS), prostate cancer and Kennedy's disease. Complete absence of AR function results in the complete AIS (also termed complete testicular feminization) with a failure in the development of both the internal and external male structures. Less severe mutations in AR lead to a range of intermediate phenotypes. The AR mutations that cause AIS can be single point mutations, larger deletions or insertions that affect binding of ligand or DNA, create

premature stop codons or alter mRNA splicing (Quigley et al. 1995, McPhaul 1999). Kennedy's disease that is also known as spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA), is an X-linked motor neuron disorder associated with an increased length of the polymorphic glutamine repeat (CAG repeat) in the N terminus of AR (Quigley et al. 1995). Androgens and AR have an important role in the development of prostate, and thus a lot of attention has been focused on their potential role in the development and progression of prostate cancer – the most common malignancy of men in many industrialized countries. Blocking of androgen action is often used as a treatment for inoperable prostate cancers. Unfortunately, most of the prostate cancers become eventually resistant to the androgen deprivation therapy. Hence, mutations or amplifications of the AR gene may be involved in the progression of the disease (Lopez-Otin and Diamandis 1998).

3. COVALENT MODIFICATIONS IN NUCLEAR RECEPTOR FUNCTION

Expression of proteins can be regulated practically at any step in a pathway starting from initiation of gene transcription and leading to synthesis of a functional protein (Orphanides and Reinberg 2002). Even though the initiation of transcription is a crucial regulatory step, also mRNA processing, mRNA transport, translation and folding of proteins are subjected to important regulation. The activities of proteins are further controlled by regulating their localization and rate of turnover. In addition, posttranslational modifications serve a quick way to modulate the functions of proteins. Proteins are subjected to various covalent modifications, such as glycosylation, acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ADP-ribosylation, ubiquitination or sumoylation. Covalent modifications also regulate nuclear receptor-dependent transcription by modifying activities of transcription factors and by remodeling the chromatin structural proteins.

3.1. Modification of structural proteins of chromatin

DNA is packed into a hierarchy of structures, the basic repeating structural unit being the nucleosome. The nucleosome core consists of a histone octamer (H3-H4 tetramer and two H2A-H2B dimers) wrapped with 146 bp of DNA. Histone H1 binds to the core histones and to the linker DNA. Because of the tight packing, genes and their promoter regions are not accessible to the binding of transcription factors. Thus, chromatin structure has to be loosened to enable efficient transcription. The N-terminal tails of histones are susceptible to many covalent modifications, such as acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination, and the modifications have a key role in altering chromatin structure and function (Spencer and Davie 1999). Acetylation of the core histones is connected to transcriptionally active chromatin, whereas transcriptionally silent genes are typically hypoacetylated (Struhl 1998). Acetylation of the specific lysine residues of histone tails

loosens the nucleosome packing and facilitates the interaction of transcription factors with nucleosomal DNA (Struhl 1998, Spencer and Davie 1999). Mechanistic connection between histone acetylation and gene expression has been clarified by the finding that some coactivators, such as SRC-1, SRC-3, CBP/p300 and P/CAF that are recruited to the promoter region by nuclear receptors, possess histone acetyltransferase activity (Ogryzko et al. 1996, Chen et al. 1997, Spencer et al. 1997, Blanco et al. 1998, McKenna et al. 1999, Hermanson et al. 2002). Corepressor complexes, on the other hand, contain histone deacetylases that repress transcription by deacetylating histone tails (Struhl 1998, McKenna et al. 1999).

DNA methylation has a well-characterized role in the silencing of gene expression (Bird and Wolffe 1999), but methylation of proteins also contributes to chromatin remodeling and gene transcription (Stallcup 2001). Like acetylation, methylation of the core histone tails is associated with the active chromatin (Stallcup 2001). Interestingly, two proteins with methyltransferase activities, coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1 (CARM1) and protein arginine methyltransferase 1 (PRMT1), have been found to interact with the nuclear receptor coactivator GRIP1 and cooperate with GRIP1 in the nuclear receptor-dependent transcription (Chen et al. 1999a, Koh et al. 2000). CARM1 methylates specific arginine residues of histone H3 (Schurter et al. 2001), and PRMT1 preferentially modifies H4 (Chen et al. 1999a, Strahl et al. 2001). The core histones and histone H1 are phosphorylated at specific serine and threonine residues, and these modifications have also been shown to be involved in the regulation of transcription (Spencer and Davie 1999).

3.2. Modification of transcription factors

In addition to modifying chromatin structure, covalent modifications participate in the regulation of transcription by modulating activities of proteins involved in transcription, such as RNAP II, sequence specific transcription factors and coregulators. Ligands play an important role in regulating the function of the steroid receptors, but some receptors appear also to be activated in a ligand-independent fashion (Beato et al. 1996). Both ligand-dependent and ligand-independent activities of the receptors are modulated by cross-talk with other cellular signaling pathways that start from the cell surface receptors and are carried to the nucleus via phosphorylation cascades mediated by various kinases (Weigel 1996, Weigel and Zhang 1998). Phosphorylation has been demonstrated to regulate many functions of NRs, including transcriptional activity, DNA binding, binding to coactivators, dimerization and stability (Arnold et al. 1995, Kato et al. 1995, Chen et al. 1999b, Tremblay et al. 1999, Lange et al. 2000). In addition to the NRs, coregulator proteins, such as SRC family members and CBP/p300, are phosphorylated, and the modification

modulates their function as transcriptional coregulators (Font de Mora and Brown 2000, Rowan et al. 2000, Lopez et al. 2001).

Acetylation and methylation have not been studied as extensively as phosphorylation, but transcription factors have also been reported to be modulated by these modifications. The coactivators CBP/p300 and P/CAF are able to acetylate AR, and also ERa is subject to acetylation by CBP/p300 (Fu et al. 2000, Wang et al. 2001a). Interestingly, mutation of the AR acetylation site abrogates the ligand-dependent function of the receptor and coactivation by coactivators, correlating with increased binding to N-CoR corepressor (Fu et al. 2000 and 2002). Acetylation of ACTR/SRC-3 by CBP/p300 disrupts the association of ACTR with the NRs, suggesting that acetylation of coregulators acts as a regulatory mechanism in hormonal signaling (Chen et al. 1999c). Regulation of transcription factors by methylation is supported by the study demonstrating that Stat1 is methylated by PRMT1 and that methylation is required for transcriptional activation (Mowen et al. 2001). Interestingly, inhibition of methylation facilitates the binding of PIAS1 to Stat1, leading to decreased DNA binding and inhibition of STAT signaling (Mowen et al. 2001). In addition, the coactivator CBP/p300 is a target for methylation by CARM1, and methylation blocks the interaction of CBP/p300 with the transcription factor CREB (cAMP responsive element binding protein) (Xu et al. 2001)

3.2.1. Ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation

Ubiquitin is a small (8.5 kDa) protein that can be covalently attached to lysine residues of target proteins (Weissman 2001). Target protein can be modified at one or more lysines with a single ubiquitin (monoubiquitination), or with ubiquitin chains formed by attachment of ubiquitin molecules to lysine residues of the previous ubiquitins (polyubiquitination) (Hicke 2001, Weissman 2001). Ubiquitination is mediated by at least three types of enzymes (Weissman 2001). First, the E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme forms a thiolester bond with ubiquitin. Subsequently, ubiquitin is transferred to the E2 ubiquitin to the lysine residue of the target protein. There are two major families of ubiquitin E3 enzymes: the HECT (homologous to E6-AP carboxyl terminus) domain E3s form thiolester intermediates with ubiquitin, whereas the RING finger E3s mediate the transfer of ubiquitin to substrate without thiolester bond formation (Weissman 2001).

The specificity of the action of ubiquitination on target proteins is generated largely by the enzymes that recognize the substrates, and also by the types of ubiquitin conjugates formed (Chan and Hill 2001, Weissman 2001). The best-characterized function of protein ubiquitination is the targeting of proteins to proteasome-mediated degradation (Hochstrasser 1996). Interestingly, monoubiquitination does not lead to protein degradation, but attachment of four or more ubiquitins does (Thrower et al. 2000). In addition to protein degradation, polyubiquitination controls other cellular functions, such as regulation of translation and DNA repair (Weissman 2001). The choice of lysine in ubiquitin sequence that is used for multiubiquitin chain formation affects the fate of target protein; polyubiquitin chains linked through lysine 48 are potent targeting signals for degradation, whereas lysine 63 linkages seem to be important for DNA repair (Hicke 2001, Weissman 2001). Monoubiquitination, on the other hand, has been demonstrated to regulate totally different events, such as functions of histones, endocytosis of proteins and budding of retroviruses (Hicke 2001).

Transcription factors are targets for ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation, and there is positive correlation between the potency and instability of a given transcriptional activator (Thomas and Tyers 2000, Salghetti et al. 2001). Involvement of ubiquitination in transcriptional regulation is supported by a study that identified a ubiquitin-protein ligase subunit within the CCR4-NOT transcription repressor complex (Albert et al. 2002). Interestingly, ubiquitination was recently shown to mediate cofactor exchange on DNA-bound LIM homeodomain transcription factors (Ostendorff et al. 2002). Steroid receptors are also targets for ubiquitin-dependent degradation (Nawaz et al. 1999b, Wallace and Cidlowski 2001). Stabilization of GR by proteasome inhibitor MG132 results in enhanced transcriptional activity (Wallace and Cidlowski 2001, Deroo et al. 2002). In contrast to GR, treatment of cells with MG132 was shown to inhibit the activity of ERa, suggesting that ubiquitination and proteasome function is required for ERa-mediated transcription (Lonard et al. 2000). Since steroid receptor coregulators are also targets for degradation via the proteasome, the proteasome-dependent degradation may play an important regulatory role in the receptor and coactivator turnover and coactivator complex exchange in the steroid receptor-mediated transcription (Lonard et al. 2000, Hermanson et al. 2002).

4. SUMO-1 MODIFICATION

SUMO modification (sumoylation) is a recently characterized covalent modification that leads to attachment of SUMO (small ubiquitin-related modifier) protein to specific lysine residues of target proteins (Melchior 2000, Yeh et al. 2000). SUMO is a small polypeptide that shows a significant structural homology to ubiquitin. SUMO and ubiquitin are only 18% identical, but they share a similar three-dimensional structure, the $\beta\beta\alpha\beta\beta\alpha\beta$ ubiquitin-fold (Fig. 6, Bayer et al. 1998, Jin et al. 2001). Members of the SUMO protein family are present in protozoa, yeast, plants and metazoa. SUMO family in metazoa consist of three related proteins, SUMO-1 (also known as PIC1, Ubl1, sentrin, GMP1, Smt3c or hSmt3), SUMO-2 (sentrin2 or Smt3a) and SUMO-3 (sentrin3 or Smt3b) (Melchior 2000). SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 are 95% identical, but SUMO-1 shares only about 50% sequence identity with SUMO-2/3. The least conserved region of SUMO proteins is the N terminus.

It is highly flexible, protrudes from the core of the proteins, and is absent in the ubiquitin (Bayer et al. 1998).

Both ubiquitin and SUMO have the two conserved Gly residues in their C termini that are essential for the conjugation (Bayer et al. 1998). Before conjugation, the last four, eleven or two amino acids of SUMO-1, -2 or -3, respectively, have to be proteolytically cleaved to expose the Gly residues. Lysines in ubiquitin sequence that are used to generate ubiquitin polymers are absent in SUMO-1 sequence, which is in line with the finding that only one SUMO-1 molecule is attached to a given lysine residue of target protein. In contrast, SUMO-2/3 is capable of forming polymers by using lysine 11 as an attachment site for another SUMO-2/3 (Tatham et al. 2001). The corresponding lysine is not conserved in SUMO-1, and SUMO-1 was demonstrated to be unable to form polySUMO chains *in vitro* (Tatham et al. 2001). Sumoylation is mechanistically similar to ubiquitination, but the function of sumoylation is less well understood than that of ubiquitination. SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 probably have distinct regulatory roles, and SUMO-2/3 conjugation has been suggested to play a role in the cellular response to environmental stress (Saitoh and Hinchey 2000).



Fig. 6. Comparison of the three-dimensional structures of SUMO-1 and ubiquitin. SUMO-1 contains the characteristic $\beta\beta\alpha\beta\beta\alpha\beta$ ubiquitin-fold common to ubiquitin-like proteins. The Gly-Gly motif is shown at the C terminus of the proteins. The most prominent difference between the proteins is the flexible N-terminal tail of SUMO-1 (Melchior 2000).

4.1. Enzymes involved in SUMO modification pathway

The general mechanism of sumoylation and ubiquitination are highly related, but the enzymes involved in the two processes are distinct (Melchior 2000). After the C-terminal processing, SUMO is activated in an ATP-dependent reaction by formation of a thiolester bond with the E1 enzyme. Subsequently, SUMO is transferred to the E2 SUMO conjugating enzyme. In ubiquitination, the E3 ubiquitin ligases are required to ensure substrate specificity (Weissman 2001), and recently, the E3 ligases for sumoylation have

also been characterized. Like ubiquitination, sumoylation is a reversible process, and SUMO is cleaved from target proteins by isopeptidases (Fig. 7, Melchior 2000).



Fig. 7. The SUMO modification pathway. The C-terminal amino acids have to be cleaved by C-terminal hydrolases to expose the Gly-Gly motif for conjugation. Attachment of SUMO to lysine residues of target proteins is catalyzed by E1, E2 and E3 enzymes related to the enzymes in ubiquitination pathway. Sumoylation is reversible, and SUMO can be removed from target proteins by isopeptidases (adapted from Melchior 2000).

4.1.1. E1, E2 and E3 activities

The cDNAs for the E1 enzyme activity in sumoylation pathway has been cloned from both yeast and human. The E1 is a heterodimer composed of Aos1/SAE1/Sua1 and Uba2/SAE2 (Johnson et al. 1997, Desterro et al. 1999, Gong et al. 1999, Okuma et al. 1999). Aos1 is homologous to the N-terminal region of the ubiquitin E1 Uba1, whereas Uba2 shares homology with the C-terminal half of Uba1. Uba2 bears the cysteine residue required for the formation of SUMO-E1 enzyme thiolesters, but both Uba2 and Aos1 are required for the activation of SUMO *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Johnson et al. 1997, Desterro et al. 1999, Gong et al. 1999). Human Aos1/Uba2 heterodimer is able to form thiolester bonds with all members of the SUMO family *in vitro*, thus SUMO-1, SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 can be activated by the same E1 enzyme (Gong et al. 1999).

In contrast to large number of E2 conjugating enzymes in ubiquitin pathway, only one SUMO conjugating enzyme, Ubc9, has been identified (Desterro et al. 1997, Gong et al. 1997, Johnson and Blobel 1997, Schwarz et al. 1998, Müller et al. 2001). Ubc9 is highly conserved from yeast to human, and it shares a striking similarity with the large family of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes. However, the surface charge distributions of Ubc9 and ubiquitin E2s are very different, and the Ubc9 surface involved in interaction with SUMO-1 is highly complementary in its electrostatic potential and hydrophobicity to the surface of SUMO-1 (Liu et al. 1999). In line with this notion, Ubc9 is specific for SUMO and does not conjugate ubiquitin (Desterro et al. 1997, Gong et al. 1997, Johnson and Blobel 1997, Schwarz et al. 1998). Ubc9 is capable of interacting with almost all SUMO substrates. SUMO-1 consensus attachment sequence, ΨKXE (Ψ is a large hydrophobic residue and X represents any amino acid), has been demonstrated to be a major determinant of Ubc9 binding and SUMO-1 modification (Sampson et al. 2001). The peptides corresponding to the SUMO-1 conjugation sites of p53 and c-Jun were shown by NMR spectroscopy to bind to a surface adjacent to the active site Cys93 of human Ubc9 (Lin et al. 2002). In addition, crystallographic analysis of a complex between mammalian Ubc9 and the C-terminal domain of RanGAP1 revealed the structural determinants for recognition of consensus SUMO sequence by Ubc9 (Bernier-Villamor et al. 2002).

In ubiquitination, the E3 ubiquitin ligases are needed to ensure substrate specificity (Weissman et al. 2001). They are defined as proteins that bind specific protein substrates and promote the transfer of ubiquitin from a thiolester intermediate to amide linkages with protein or polyubiquitin chains (Melchior 2000). The requirement for similar SUMO E3 ligase activity was doubted in the past because, first, the SUMO E2 enzyme Ubc9 is able to bind almost all known SUMO substrates, and second, E1 and E2 enzymes are sufficient for sumoylation of specific substrates in vitro. However, very recently the PIAS proteins were demonstrated to act as E3 SUMO ligases for various substrates both in yeast and in mammalian cells (Hochstrasser 2001, Jackson 2001, Kotaja et al. 2002). Yeast PIAS homologue Siz1 promotes SUMO conjugation to the yeast septins both in vitro and in vivo (Johnson and Gupta, 2001, Takahashi et al. 2001b and 2001c). In addition, PIASy stimulates sumoylation of the Wnt-responsive transcription factor LEF1, and PIAS1 and PIASxβ act as SUMO ligases for c-Jun and p53 (Kahyo et al. 2001, Sachdev et al. 2001, Schmidt and Müller 2002). The E3 activity of PIAS proteins is dependent on their RING finger-like structure. Interestingly, nucleoporin RanBP2 that is not related to PIAS proteins was also identified as a SUMO E3 ligase (Pichler et al. 2002). RanBP2 does not contain a RING finger structure, and in contrast to PIAS proteins that are nuclear, RanBP2 is located in nuclear pores (Pichler et al. 2002).

4.1.2. SUMO C-terminal hydrolases and isopeptidases

The C-terminal hydrolases are responsible for cleaving the C terminus of SUMO before conjugation to target proteins (Melchior 2000, Müller et al. 2001). Sumoylation is a reversible process, and SUMO-protein conjugates are highly susceptible to deconjugation by isopeptidases (Melchior 2000). C-terminal hydrolases and isopeptidases are cysteine proteases that share some homology with viral cysteine proteases, but are unrelated in sequence to deubiquitinating enzymes (Melchior 2000, Müller et al. 2001). In yeast, two SUMO-specific proteases, Ulp1 (ubiquitin-like protease 1) and Ulp2, have been identified (Li and Hochstrasser 1999 and 2000). These proteases are specific for SUMO, in that they do not cleave ubiquitinated proteins. A 30-kDa ubiquitin-related SUMO-1 hydrolase has been isolated from bovine brain, and two human enzymes, SENP1 (sentrin-specific protease) and SUSP1 (SUMO-1-specific protease), have been cloned (Suzuki et al. 1999, Gong et al. 2000, Kim et al. 2000). In addition, an expressed sequence tag (EST) databank search, based on the conserved ULP domain from yeast Ulp1, have identified additional

homologous sequences in human, suggesting the existence of a larger family of SUMOspecific proteases (Yeh et al. 2000). Most of the identified SUMO processing enzymes are usually able to function as both C-terminal hydrolases and isopeptidases. The substrate specificity of different proteases might be partly determined by their intracellular localization; for example, Ulp2 and SENP1 are intranuclear, SUSP1 is found in the cytoplasm and Ulp1 appears to be concentrated around the nuclear envelope (Gong et al. 2000, Kim et al. 2000, Li and Hochstrasser 2000).

4.2. SUMO target proteins and possible functions of sumoylation

Genetic studies have demonstrated that the sequences encoding E1 and E2 enzymes, SUMO and Ulp1 protease are essential for the viability of S. cerevisiae (Dohmen et al. 1995, Seufert et al. 1995, Johnson et al. 1997, Li and Hochstrasser 1999). In contrast, SUMO and Ubc9 in S. pombe are not essential for the viability, but inactivating mutations of these genes cause severe defects in growth and chromosome segregation (Al-Khodairy et al. 1995, Tanaka et al. 1999). Temperature-sensitive mutants in the S. cerevisiae genes coding for Uba2, Ubc9 and Ulp1 also show strong cell-cycle defects, and the mutant cells arrest predominantly at the G2/M boundary of the cell cycle (Seufert et al. 1995, Johnson et al. 1997, Li and Hochstrasser 1999). These results suggest an essential role for sumoylation in cell cycle progression. The major targets of SUMO in S. cerevisiae are the septins, which function in the regulation of cytokinesis. Sumoylation plays a role in controlling dynamics of so-called septin ring formation at the yeast bud neck during the cell cycle (Johnson and Blobel 1999). In addition to yeast, the importance of sumoylation pathway has been demonstrated in Drosophila and C. elegans. Drosophila Ubc9 was recently shown to mediate the dissociation of chromosomes at the end of meiotic prophase I (Apionishev et al. 2001), and C. elegans Ubc9 was demonstrated to be essential for embryogenesis (Jones et al. 2001).

The proteins involved in sumoylation pathway (SAE1, SAE2, Ubc9 and SUMO-1) are predominantly located in the nucleus (Azuma et al. 2001, Rodriguez et al. 2001), and most of the sumoylated proteins identified thus far are nuclear (Kamitani et al. 1997). However, there are also very well characterized, efficiently sumoylated, substrates, such as RanGAP1 and yeast septins, that are restricted to the cytoplasmic compartment (Matunis et al. 1996, Mahajan et al. 1997, Johnson and Blobel 1999). The nuclear localization signal (NLS) is required for SUMO-1 conjugation of some substrates *in vivo*, suggesting that in these cases proteins must be targeted to the nucleus to undergo SUMO-1 modification (Rodriguez et al. 2001). The finding that RanBP2, which is localized to the cytoplasmic filaments of nuclear pore complexes (NPCs), has SUMO-1 E3 ligase activity suggest that NLS-containing targets of SUMO-1 modification can be modified on their way to the nucleus (Pichler et al. 2002).

Several proteins are modified by SUMO-1 (Melchior 200, Yeh et al. 2000, Müller et al. 2001). SUMO is attached to lysine residues of the target proteins that are embedded in the consensus sumoylation sequence Ψ KXE (Melchior 2000, Yeh et al. 2000, Müller et al. 2001). Even though SUMO-1 and SUMO-1-conjugating machinery is essential for the normal growth of yeast, the role of sumoylation in mammalian cells is not well established. However, the modification has been shown to be involved in the regulation of subcellular and subnuclear localization of proteins as well as protein-protein interactions, stabilization of proteins by preventing ubiquitination, and regulation of the activities of transcription factors (Melchior 2000, Yeh et al. 2000, Müller et al. 2001).

4.2.1. Regulation of protein targeting and protein-protein interactions

The Ran GTPase-activating protein RanGAP1 was the first protein identified as a target for SUMO modification (Matunis et al. 1996, Mahajan et al. 1997). RanGAP1 is a key regulator of Ran GTPase, which controls the nucleo-cytoplasmic transport through the nuclear pore complex (NPC). The SUMO-1 modification of RanGAP1 is required for the interaction with RanBP2 that is localized at the cytoplasmic filaments of the NPC (Mahajan et al. 1997). SUMO-1 is not directly mediating the interaction, but modification has been suggested to induce a structural change in RanGAP1 that allows its binding to RanBP2 (Matunis et al. 1996, Mahajan et al. 1997, Saitoh et al. 1997). RanBP2 is also sumoylated, but the role of sumoylation in the function of RanGAP1 to mitotic spindles and kinetochores is also dependent upon the SUMO-1 conjugation of RanGAP1 (Joseph et al. 2002).

The PML nuclear bodies are nuclear speckles of unknown function containing several different proteins (Maul et al. 2000). The PML bodies seem to be preferential accumulation sites for sumoylated proteins (Yeh et al. 2000, Müller et al. 2001). The defining component of the PML bodies, the PML protein, is sumoylated at three distinct lysine residues, and sumoylation of PML is known to regulate the assembly and/or stability of the PML bodies (Sternsdorf et al. 1997, Kamitani et al. 1998a and 1998b, Müller et al. 1998, Duprez et al. 1999, Zhong et al. 2000). The SUMO-1-modified PML is able to recruit other proteins to the PML bodies. A transcriptional repressor Daxx is relocalized and stored in an inactive state in the PML bodies upon sumoylation of PML (Ishov et al. 1999, Li et al. 2000). Daxx represses the transcriptional activity of Pax3 transcription factor, and sumoylation of PML induces the activity of Pax3 through sequestration of Daxx into the PML bodies (Lehembre et al. 2001).

Another component of the PML bodies, Sp100, is also a subject to covalent modification by SUMO-1, but sumoylation is not needed for the localization of Sp100 in the PML bodies (Sternsdorf et al. 1999). Instead, Sp100 interacts with chromosomal non-histone proteins of the HP1 and HMG1/2 families (Lehming et al. 1998, Seeler et al.

1998), and sumoylated Sp100 has a higher affinity for the HP1 protein (Seeler et al. 2001). Further evidence for the role of sumoylation in the regulation of subnuclear localization is provided by studies demonstrating that the SUMO-1-modified HIPK2, a transcriptional corepressor of homeodomain transcription factors, is targeted to detergent-insoluble subnuclear complexes (Kim et al. 1999), and that the ETS-related transcriptional repressor TEL is found in cell-cycle-specific nuclear dots in a sumoylation-dependent manner (Chakrabarti et al. 2000).

4.2.2. Sumoylation of transcription factors

Various transcription factors are targets for SUMO modifications, but the role of sumoylation in the regulation of the functions of these proteins is still unclear. AR is sumoylated in an androgen-enhanced fashion (Poukka et al. 2000). Mutation of SUMO-1 attachment sites in the N-terminal domain (lysines 386 and 520) of AR enhances transcriptional activity of the receptor on minimal promoters (Poukka et al. 2000). The transcriptional activities of c-Jun and c-Myb are also negatively regulated by SUMO-1 modifications, in that disruption of major sumoylation target lysines in these proteins enhances their activity (Müller et al. 2000, Bies et al. 2002). p53 is also sumoylated, and overexpression of SUMO-1 has been suggested to enhance the transcriptional activity of wild-type p53, but not the sumoylation deficient p53 (Gostissa et al. 1999, Rodriquez et al. 1999). However, opposite results have also been reported (Kwek et al. 2001). p53 is recruited into PML bodies by a specific PML isoform or by coexpression of SUMO-1, but the recruitment is not dependent on the SUMO-1 modification of p53 itself (Fogal et al. 2000).

SUMO-1 modifications also regulate activities of heat shock transcription factor 1 (HSF1) and HSF2 that mediate the induction of heat shock protein gene expression in cells exposed to elevated temperature and other stress conditions (Goodson et al. 2001, Hong et al. 2001). In contrast to HSF2, which is constitutively modified, HSF1 is only modified after stress treatment (Goodson et al. 2001, Hong et al. 2001). Mutation of the principal sumoylation site of HSF1 was demonstrated to result in a decrease in its stress-induced transcriptional activity (Hong et al. 2001). Sumoylation was suggested to convert both HSF1 and HSF2 to active, DNA-binding forms (Goodson et al. 2001, Hong et al. 2001). Interestingly, histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) is also a target for SUMO-1 modification, and sumoylation appears to affect the activity of the enzyme, since mutation of the SUMO-1 attachment site reduces HDAC1-mediated transcriptional repression (David et al. 2002).

In addition to transcription, sumoylation is connected to other DNA-dependent processes, such as DNA repair. For example, topoisomerase I and II (TOP1 and II) are substrates for SUMO-1 attachment, and the SUMO pathway has been suggested to be involved in the repair of TOP1-mediated DNA damage (Mao et al. 2000a and 2000b). SUMO-1 modification of human thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG), an enzyme that

initiates base excision repair and removes the aberrant bases, dramatically reduces DNA substrate binding affinity of TDG, which is associated with a significant increase in enzymatic turnover (Hardeland et al. 2002).

4.2.3. Regulation of protein stability

If SUMO and ubiquitin compete for the same lysine residues in the target protein, sumoylation may lead to stabilization of the protein by blocking ubiquitination and subsequent degradation, as exemplified by the inhibitor protein $I\kappa B\alpha$ (Desterro et al. 1998). I $\kappa B\alpha$ is a regulatory protein that binds the transcription factor NF- κB and keeps NF- κB inactive in the cytoplasm. Upon stimulation, $I\kappa B\alpha$ becomes phosphorylated, which acts as a signal for ubiquitination and degradation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (Israel 2000). Degradation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ releases NF- κB to the nucleus, where it regulates target gene transcription. $I\kappa B\alpha$ is SUMO-1 modified at the same lysine residue used for ubiquitination, and sumoylation thereby stabilizes $I\kappa B\alpha$ leading to inhibition of NF- κB activation (Desterro et al. 1998). A similar role of sumoylation has been suggested in the regulation of Mdm2 (murine double minute clone 2), an E3 ubiquitin ligase for p53 (Buschmann et al. 2000). However, a note of caution has been raised, since all available data do not support this model (Melchior and Hengst 2000). Thus, the role of sumoylation in the regulation of E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 remains to be solved.

4.3. Future perspectives

Genetic studies in yeast have demonstrated the important role of sumoylation in cell growth and division, but the biological significance of SUMO modifications in mammalian cells is still elusive. To find out the physiological importance of sumoylation, gene targeting in mice is needed to specifically inactivate the different *sumo* genes or the genes encoding components of SUMO-conjugating machinery. In addition, selective inhibitors that block either sumoylation or SUMO deconjugation would be useful tools in characterization of the function of sumoylation. Analogous inhibitors of proteasome-mediated degradation, such as MG132, have had a marked impact on the study of protein turnover and understanding the role of protein ubiquitination. At the same time, identification of novel sumoylation substrates, as well as characterization of the effects of sumoylation on their activities has to be continued to understand better the role of SUMO modifications in the regulation of cellular functions.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The PIAS protein family is a small group of highly conserved nuclear proteins that interact with many different transcription factors. Because of the high degree of sequence homology, it is likely that PIAS proteins also share similar functions. Since ARIP3/PIASx α was originally characterized as an androgen receptor coregulator, and since two PIAS proteins, ARIP3/PIASx α and PIAS1, are highly expressed in testis, PIAS proteins were assumed to play a role in androgen receptor-dependent signaling. The domain structure of PIAS proteins and the mechanism underlying their function were, however, largely unsolved. The following specific aims were addressed in this study:

- To study the functions of different PIAS proteins in steroid receptor-dependent transcription and to compare the effects of PIAS proteins in steroid receptor- and STAT-dependent signaling
- To characterize the domains important for the function of ARIP3
- To elucidate the mechanisms underlying PIAS protein action by searching for interaction partners
- To examine the role of PIAS proteins in SUMO-1 modification pathway
- To study sumoylation of the steroid receptor coactivator GRIP1 and to elucidate the effects of this modification on the GRIP1 function

METHODS

More detailed descriptions of the methods and materials used in this study are found in the original publications (I-IV) as indicated in the table below.

Table 2. Methods used in this study.

Method	original publication
Plasmid construction and recombinant DNA technology	I, II, III, IV
Cell culture	I, II, III, IV
Transfections and reporter gene assay	I, II, III, IV
Mammalian two-hybrid assay	I, II
Immunoprecipitation	II, III
Production of recombinant proteins in bacteria	I, II, III
Protein-protein interactions in vitro (GST pull-down)	I, II
SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting	I, II, III, IV
Detection of SUMO-1 modifications in intact cells	III
In vitro SUMO-1 modification	III
Immunocytochemistry	III, IV
Confocal microscopy	III, IV

THE SEQUENCES OF PIAS PROTEINS USED IN THIS STUDY

The full-length rat ARIP3 cDNA (Gene bank accession number AF044058) was obtained by screening a rat testis cDNA library with the ARIP3 fragment found in the yeast twohybrid screen as a probe (Moilanen et al. 1999). Mouse PIAS3 (AF034080) and mouse PIAS1 (AF077950) were generous gifts from Dr. K. Shuai (Los Angeles, CA). Nterminally truncated mouse Miz1 (AF039567) cDNA lacking the sequence encoding the first 131 amino acids was a kind gift from Dr. R. Maxson (Los Angeles, CA). ARIP3/PIASx α and Miz1/PIASx β are splice variants encoded by the same gene, and their first 550 amino acids are identical. Full-length Miz1 was constructed by ligating nucleotides encoding amino acids 1-337 of ARIP3 to the C terminus of Miz1 encoding amino acids 338-621 (I).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. PIAS PROTEINS FUNCTION AS STEROID RECEPTOR COREGULATORS (I, II)

ARIP3 (androgen receptor-interacting protein 3) was originally found in a yeast twohybrid screen using the AR DBD and part of the hinge region as bait (Moilanen et al. 1999). ARIP3 also interacts with full-length AR and modulates AR-dependent transcription (Moilanen et al. 1999). Other PIAS proteins have been shown to interact with and to regulate activities of very dissimilar transcription factors (Chung et al. 1997, Valdez et al. 1997, Wu et al. 1997, Liu et al. 1998). However, the high degree of sequence homology among PIAS proteins predicts similar functions. The abilities of four PIAS proteins – ARIP3/PIASx α , Miz1/PIASx β , PIAS1 and PIAS3 – to modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcription were studied by using transient transfections and reporter gene assays. The fifth PIAS family member, PIASy, was not investigated in this study. Different cell lines and different reporter constructs were used. All studied PIAS proteins were able to modulate AR, GR, ER and PR-mediated signaling, but their effects differed depending on the receptor, the promoter, and the cell type. On the minimal ARE₂TATA promoter, PIAS proteins enhanced both AR and GR-dependent transcription, but the degree of enhancement varied according to the PIAS protein used. In HeLa cells, Miz1 and PIAS1 were more potent coactivators of AR than ARIP3 and PIAS3. In contrast, ARIP3 enhanced GR-dependent transactivation from the minimal promoter more efficiently than other PIAS proteins. The effects of PIAS proteins on complex promoters were more diverse. Miz1 and PIAS1 activated AR-dependent transcription from the natural probasin promoter, whereas ARIP3 repressed AR activity under the same conditions. Likewise, ARIP3 repressed GR-dependent transcription from the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) promoter despite the fact that ARIP3 is very strong coactivator of GR on the minimal promoter.

The differences among the effects of PIAS protein on AR and GR-mediated transactivation on the minimal promoter were diminished in HepG2 cells, and all PIAS proteins activated the function of AR and GR to a similar degree. Moreover, ARIP3 was not able to repress the activity of AR from the probasin promoter in HepG2 cells. These interesting differences in the cell line-specific functions of PIAS proteins may derive from the differences in the expression of endogenous PIAS proteins or factors regulating the function of PIAS proteins in these cells lines. Interestingly, PIAS proteins are able to interact directly with other family members (Tan et al. 2002, our unpublished results). Tan et al. (2002) also demonstrated that the coregulatory effects of PIAS1 on AR are modulated by coexpression of PIAS α , PIAS α or PIASy, suggesting that the net effect of PIAS proteins is dependent on the relative amounts of different family members. Miz1 and PIAS1, but not ARIP3 and PIAS3, exhibit some intrinsic transcription-activating function

both in HeLa and HepG2 cells. This is in line with the ability of Miz1 and PIAS1 to activate AR-mediated transcription from both minimal and complex promoters, but not with the results obtained in HepG2 cells. Thus, the transactivation functions of Miz1 and PIAS1 cannot be the only explanation for the differences in the actions of PIAS proteins.

In summary, PIAS proteins are efficient modulators of steroid receptor signaling, and they function in a receptor-, promoter- and cell line-dependent fashion. The effects of PIAS proteins were prominent even with low amounts of expression plasmids transfected, and under similar conditions, the effects of PIAS proteins on STAT-mediated transcription were modest. Thus, under ectopic expression conditions, the action of PIAS proteins is clearly not restricted to inhibition of STAT signaling, but they also function as coregulators for steroid receptors. The role of PIAS proteins in steroid receptor-dependent signaling has subsequently been addressed by other laboratories. The interaction of PIAS1 and AR was discovered in a yeast two-hybrid assay, when a HeLa cell cDNA library was screened using an AR region containing the DBD and the LBD as bait (Tan et al. 2000). PIAS1 has been demonstrated to modulate the activities of AR, GR and PR (Tan et al. 2000, Gross et al. 2001). Similarly, PIASx α , PIASx β , PIAS3 and PIASy interact with AR and function as AR coregulators (Junicho et al. 2000, Gross et al. 2001, Tan et al. 2002). These results further confirm the involvement of PIAS proteins in steroid receptor-dependent transcription.

2. DOMAINS IMPORTANT FOR COREGULATOR FUNCTION OF PIAS PROTEINS (I, II, III)

To modulate the steroid receptor-dependent transcription, PIAS proteins have to interact with the receptors, either directly or indirectly. Direct interactions of full-length ARIP3 and Miz1 with AR, GR, PR and ER was demonstrated in vitro in GST pull-down assays. The interactions in this system were independent of the presence of the ligand. All four PIAS proteins were also able to interact with AR in a ligand-enhanced fashion in mammalian two-hybrid assay. In the original yeast two-hybrid screen, the C-terminal region (amino acids 443-547) of ARIP3 was found as an fragment interacting with the AR DBD. The C terminus of ARIP3 also interacted with full-length AR in mammalian two-hybrid assay (Moilanen et al. 1999). Likewise, the C terminus of PIAS1 has been shown to mediate the interaction with STAT1 (Liao et al. 2000). However, in coimmunoprecipitation experiments, the C-terminally truncated ARIP3 (ARIP3Δ467-547) interacted with AR as efficiently as wild-type ARIP3, indicating that this region is not alone responsible for binding to AR. Instead, the potential zinc-binding domain of ARIP3 (amino acids 347-418) was mandatory for the interaction with full-length AR. Other groups have demonstrated that the N terminus of PIAS1 (amino acids 1-318) and PIASy (amino acids 1-406) are capable of interacting with the AR DBD in vitro (Tan et al. 2000, Gross et al. 2001). Similarly, the DBD of AR is not the only region reported to be involved in the binding to

PIAS proteins, since Junicho et al. (2000) showed that an intact N terminus of AR is required for the interaction with PIAS3. In coimmunoprecipitation assays, deletion of either the LBD or the DBD of AR weakened the interaction with ARIP3, but N-terminal deletions of AR did not have marked effects on the interaction (unpublished results). In conclusion, more than one functional domains in PIAS proteins and steroid receptors mediates the interactions between these proteins *in vivo*. All the interactions are not necessarily direct, but may be bridged by other proteins present in the same complex.

SAP		RING finger-like SUMO			Interactions with			AR-dependent transactivation	
	domain	st	ructure	binding	<u>AR</u>	SUMO-1	Ubc9	ARE2TATA	Probasin
ARIP3 (1-572)					+	+	+	+	_
	L23	L304	W383 C385,3	88					
ARIP3∆1-102					+	+	+	+	0
ARIP3∆13-28					+	+	+	+	0
ARIP3∆347-418					_	+	_	_	-
ARIP3∆467-547					+	_	+	0	0
ARIP3∆467-487]-[]	+	_	+	0	0

Fig. 8. The ARIP3 mutants used in this study and the summary of the properties of the mutants. The SAP motif, the RING finger-like structure and the SUMO-1-binding motif are shown. Amino acids that were mutated to study the functions of LXXLL motifs (Leu 23 and 304) and the RING finger-like structure (Trp 383, Cys 385 and Cys 388) are depicted. Interactions of ARIP3 and ARIP3 mutatants with AR (in coimmunoprecipitation experiments), SUMO-1 (in GST pull-down) and Ubc9 (in GST pull-down) are indicated with + (interacts) and – (does not interact or weakened interaction) signs. The capability of different ARIP3 forms to modulate AR-dependent transcription on ARE_2TATA and probasin promoters are also shown: +, enhancement; –, repression; 0, no effect.

To find out which regions of ARIP3 are important for its function as a steroid receptor coregulator, different ARIP3 deletion mutants were studied in transient transfections (Fig. 8). In line with the finding that amino acids 443-547 interacted with AR in the yeast two-hybrid screen, deletion of amino acids 467-547 abolished the ability of ARIP3 to modulate AR-dependent transcription. This region also contains a serine-rich acidic domain (amino acids 457-483) which is involved in the binding to SUMO-1. Since deletion of the amino acids 467-547 did not abolish the interaction of AR with ARIP3 in coimmunoprecipitations, it is possible that the inability of ARIP3Δ467-547 to modulate AR activity was due to the loss of some other interaction, such as binding to SUMO-1. PIAS proteins harbor a putative DNA-binding motif, the SAP module (Aravind and Koonin, 2000), at their N termini (residues 11-45 in ARIP3). Interestingly, when the first 100 amino acids of ARIP3, or amino acids 13-28 of the SAP motif were deleted, the ability of ARIP3 to repress the AR-dependent transcription from the probasin promoter was abolished (unpublished). These ARIP3 mutants were still able to interact with AR in coimmunoprecipitation experiments. The SAP domain is thus important for the coregulator

function of ARIP3, maybe through the SAP motif-mediated DNA binding. Our initial *in vitro* DNA-binding assays using GST-ARIP3 have failed to show high-affinity DNAbinding, but the N-terminally fused GST may have impaired the function of the SAP module (unpublished results). Tan et al. (2002) have recently demonstrated that PIAS1 binds double-stranded A-T rich DNA, and the SAP module is needed for this binding. In addition, Sachdev et al. (2001) showed that PIASy binds to nuclear matrix attachment region (MAR) DNA, and the association with MARs and the nuclear matrix is mediated via the N terminus of PIASy. Mutation of the two LXXLL motifs had only a modest effect on the coregulator function of ARIP3, suggesting that the interaction between ARIP3 and AR or GR do not rely on these motifs.

Seven cysteine residues and a histidine residue in the highly conserved central region of PIAS proteins may potentially form a zinc-binding C3HC4-type RING finger motif. Zinc fingers typically form interfaces for interactions with DNA and for proteinprotein contacts. Interestingly, the deletion of the ARIP3 zinc-binding structure had a dramatic effect on the ability of ARIP3 to modulate transcription from the minimal AREdriven promoter, in that the deletion converted ARIP3 to a strong negative regulator of the AR function. Point mutations of the conserved cysteines 385 and 388 to serines caused similar effects, suggesting that this region in PIAS proteins indeed forms a zinccoordinated structure. ARIP3Δ347-418 devoid of the zinc-binding structure did not interact with AR in coimmunoprecipitation assay. However, the ARIP3(C385,388S) mutant that behaved in a fashion similar to ARIP3A347-418 in transactivation assays, was able to interact AR. Hence, the effects of the zinc-binding structure mutants of ARIP3 cannot be merely explained by the loss of interaction with AR. Most probably other domains of ARIP3 are also involved in the binding to AR, or alternatively, some other, currently unknown proteins that exist in the AR-ARIP3 complexes mediate the interaction in vivo. One interesting possibility is that the SAP domain of ARIP3 and DNA binding are involved in ARIP3 function, and ARIP3 with the deleted zinc-binding domain is still able to bind DNA and in this way repress the activity of AR. However, when both the SAP domain and the zinc-binding region of ARIP3 were deleted, the mutant ARIP3 still repressed AR-mediated transcription, arguing against the role of SAP domain in the repressive effect of ARIP3Δ347-418 (unpublished results). In conclusion, the C terminus, the SAP motif and the zinc-binding structure of ARIP3 all play roles in the coregulator activity of ARIP3, but further studies are required to clarify the specific functions of these domains.

3. PIAS PROTEINS ARE MODIFIED BY SUMO-1 (III)

SUMO-1 was found to interact with ARIP3 in a yeast two-hybrid screen using the fulllength ARIP3 as bait (unpublished results). In GST pull-down assay, ARIP3 bound

strongly to SUMO-1 and also to the SUMO-1 conjugating E2 enzyme Ubc9. Deletion of the amino acids 467-487 of ARIP3 abolished the interaction with SUMO-1. This region contains a Ser-rich and Glu/Asp-rich stretches preceded by hydrophobic residues, and a similar motif in PM-Scl75 has been shown to be sufficient for the interaction with SUMO-1 in yeast (Minty et al. 2000). In addition to the PIAS family members and PM-Sc175, many other proteins, such as PML, SAE2, HIPK2, HIPK3 and SNURF contain a motif corresponding to the sequence of the SUMO-1-binding motif (Minty et al. 2000). Thus, interaction with SUMO-1 may play a more general role in the function of these proteins. The zinc-binding region of ARIP3 (amino acids 347-418), on the other hand, is involved in the binding of Ubc9. Because of the interaction with SUMO-1 and the E2 enzyme of sumoylation pathway, it was pertinent to test weather ARIP3 and other PIAS proteins are subjected to covalent modification by SUMO-1. Coexpression of SUMO-1 with ARIP3, Miz1 or PIAS1 in COS-1 cells resulted in the formation of higher molecular mass bands that were identified to be SUMO-1-modified PIAS proteins. In contrast, the sumoylation of PIAS3 was very weak. The migration of the higher molecular mass bands of ARIP3 on SDS-PAGE suggests that up to three SUMO-1 moieties can be attached to ARIP3 and that the form containing two SUMO-1 moieties is the major sumoylated product in COS-1 cells.

Even though PIAS proteins are efficiently sumoylated, their sequences do not contain consensus SUMO-1 attachment sites. Deletion of the zinc-finger region (amino acids 347-418) dramatically weakened the sumoylation, and when the amino acids 346-475 were deleted, modification was completely abolished. Mutation of the lysine pairs 324 and 326, 379 and 380, 390 and 391, and 430 and 431 to arginines failed to alter the pattern of ARIP3 SUMO-1 modification. Thus, it is still unclear which lysine residues of PIAS proteins are used for attachment of SUMO-1. Since deletion of the central zinc-binding region may cause improper folding of the protein and thereby lead to the loss of SUMO-1 modification, a converse experiment was performed in COS-1 cells to study the sumoylation of ARIP3 regions 341-418 and 341-490 fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP). GFP-ARIP3(341-490) was sumoylated, whereas no sumoylation of GFP-ARIP3(341-418) was detected. This confirms that the central region of ARIP3 between amino acids 419 and 490 contains at least one SUMO-1 attachment site. To study weather PIAS proteins can also be modified under cell-free conditions, an in vitro SUMO-1 modification system using purified GST-fusions of SAE1, SAE2, Ubc9 and SUMO-1 was established. PIAS proteins were translated in vitro and incubated with recombinant SUMO-1, SAE1/SAE2 and Ubc9 in the presence of ATP. ARIP3, Miz1 and PIAS1 were modified by at least three GST-SUMO-1 molecules, but sumoylation of PIAS3 was undetectable under these conditions.

In analogy to the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3, many cellular proteins contain short ubiquitin-binding motifs: ubiquitin-associated domains (UBAs) and ubiquitin-

interacting motifs (UIMs) (Hofmann and Falquet 2001, Buchberger 2002). UIM motifs of endocytic proteins Eps15 and Eps15R have recently been confirmed to be responsible for ubiquitin binding, and interestingly, also for monoubiquitination of these proteins (Klapisz et al. 2002, Polo et al. 2002). In contrast, deletion of the SUMO-1-binding motif (amino acids 467-487) did not abolish ARIP3 sumoylation, indicating that this region is not needed for SUMO-1 modification of ARIP3. UBA motif-containing proteins have also been shown to inhibit multiubiquitination by binding to substrate-anchored ubiquitin (Buchberger 2002). Likewise, UIM domain has been suggested to have similar role in blocking polyubiquitination of UIM-containing proteins by formation of an intramolecular interaction between the UIM and the substrate-bound ubiquitin (Polo et al. 2002). ARIP3 devoid of the SUMO-1-binding motif was sumoylated to a greater extent than the wildtype protein, and this mutant also promoted sumoylation of COS-1 cell proteins more efficiently that wild-type ARIP3, suggesting that the motif could indeed have some regulatory role in the function of ARIP3.

4. PIAS PROTEINS INTERACT WITH SUMO-1-MODIFIED PROTEINS AND COLOCALIZE WITH SUMO-1 IN NUCLEI (III)

When a FLAG-tagged ARIP3 coexpressed with SUMO-1 in COS-1 cells was immunoprecipitated with the anti-FLAG antibody and subsequently immunoblotted with SUMO-1 antibody, many additional high molecular mass SUMO-1 immunoreactive bands were detected. Since they were not detected with anti-FLAG antibody, it was assumed that they represented other SUMO-1-modified proteins coimmunoprecipitating with ARIP3. This hypothesis was confirmed by repeating the immunoprecipitation experiment after denaturating treatment to break protein-protein interactions. When immunoprecipitated samples were immunoblotted with anti-SUMO-1 antibody, only the bands corresponding to SUMO-1-modified ARIP3 were detected. PIASy was also demonstrated to coimmunoprecipitate SUMO-2-modified proteins from cell lysates (Sachdev et al. 2001). Sumoylation and thiol groups seem also to be somehow involved in the interaction of ARIP3 with AR, since AR coimmunoprecipitates with ARIP3 only when Nethylmaleimide (NEM) is present in the buffers. NEM is a cysteine protease inhibitor that blocks the action of SUMO-1 deconjugating enzymes (Li and Hochstrasser 1999, Suzuki et al. 1999). However, both unmodified and SUMO-1-modified AR was coimmunoprecipitated with ARIP3, indicating that AR sumoylation is not needed for the interaction. The role of ARIP3 sumoylation in the interaction remains to be characterized. As NEM modifies free thiol groups, its effects may also be mediated by modification of proteins that are involved in the ARIP3-AR interaction.

Since ARIP3 binds to SUMO-1 *in vitro*, it was tempting to speculate that recruitment of sumoylated proteins is mediated by the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3

(amino acids 467-487). However, deletion of this region of ARIP3 did not abolish the interaction with other sumoylated proteins, but the recruitment was affected, in that the pattern of the recruited proteins was shifted to a lower molecular mass range. Deletion of amino acids 347-418 of ARIP3, on the other hand, eliminated the recruitment of other SUMO-1 modified proteins totally, indicating that the zinc-binding region of ARIP3 is required for this function. However, the zinc-binding region in isolation was not sufficient for the recruitment of sumoylated proteins, since no sumoylated proteins were immunoprecipitated with GFP-ARIP3(341-418), whereas GFP-ARIP3(341-490), including both the zinc-binding region and the SUMO-1-binding motif, was capable of tethering sumoylated proteins.

Nuclear distribution of ARIP3 and other PIAS proteins display speckled pattern when transfected into COS-1 cells and visualized by confocal microscopy using a monoclonal antibody against the FLAG epitope and a rhodamine-conjugated secondary antibody. The PIAS-containing granules are distinct from PML nuclear bodies as detected by double staining of cells with anti-FLAG and anti-PML antibodies (Ulla Karvonen, personal communications). GFP-SUMO-1 expressed alone is typically diffusely distributed in the nucleoplasm, but forms occasionally granular structures that differ in size from those formed by PIAS proteins. Interestingly, coexpression of PIAS proteins with GFP-SUMO-1 resulted in perfect colocalization of the two proteins in the same granules. Deletion of the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3 partially disrupted the colocalization, leading to fewer, but bigger, granules and to a considerable amount of diffuse nuclear SUMO-1. The zinc-binding region of ARIP3 was crucial for the targeting of ARIP3 and SUMO-1 to the nuclear granules, since coexpression of SUMO-1 with ARIP3Δ347-418 resulted in a diffuse nuclear distribution of both proteins.

These results demonstrated that PIAS proteins are not only subject to covalent modification by SUMO-1, but they are also able to bind other sumoylated proteins in cells and to colocalize with SUMO-1 in nuclei. Even though the free SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3 is an obvious candidate to mediate these functions, the deletion of the zinc-binding structure had a more dramatic effect on the ability of ARIP3 to bind other sumoylated proteins than that of the SUMO-1-binding motif. The zinc-finger region-deficient ARIP3 was not targeted to the nuclear granules, suggesting that incorrect targeting of this mutant could be one explanation for its inability to recruit SUMO-1-modified proteins. ARIP3Δ467-487 was targeted to the nuclear granules, but the colocalization with SUMO-1 was affected. Since ARIP3Δ467-487 is still efficiently sumoylated, the remaining granules containing colocalized ARIP3 and SUMO-1 probably represent SUMO-1 covalently attached to ARIP3. In conclusion, the regions of ARIP3 that are important for the binding of SUMO-1 and Ubc9 *in vitro* and for the coregulator function of ARIP3 in AR-dependent transcription, also influence intranuclear targeting of ARIP3 and its association with SUMO-1 modified proteins.

5. PIAS PROTEINS MODULATE TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS BY FUNCTIONING AS SUMO-1 E3 LIGASES (III, IV)

The fact that ARIP3, Miz1 and PIAS1 interact with other sumoylated proteins and possess a peculiar sumoylation feature, i.e., they lack consensus SUMO-1 acceptor sites, suggest that these proteins participate in the sumoylation process itself. Many ubiquitin E3 ligases are able to ubiquitinate themselves, and autoubiquitination has been suggested to play a role in the regulation of their activities (Joazeiro and Weissman 2000). For example, the activity of Mdm2 is controlled by autoubiquitination and subsequent degradation (Fang et al. 2000, Honda and Yasuda, 2000). Interestingly, one group of ubiquitin E3 ligases contains RING fingers that are required for their ligase activity (Lorick et al. 1999, Joazeiro and Weissman 2000), and the zinc-binding structure of PIAS proteins resembles the C_3HC_4 RING finger fold of ubiquitin ligases.

The involvement of PIAS proteins in sumoylation pathway was investigated by coexpressing ARIP3 with SUMO-1 in COS-1 cells and immunoblotting COS-1 cell lysates with the antibody against SUMO-1. ARIP3 increased markedly the overall sumoylation of COS-1 proteins. The zinc-binding region of ARIP3 was mandatory for this function, because ARIP3 Δ 347-418 was not able to enhance protein sumoylation. SUMO-1 modification of AR occurs at two lysine residues located in the N-terminal region (Poukka et al. 2000). Coexpression of ARIP3 or PIAS1 in HeLa cells stimulated the attachment of both endogenous and ectopically expressed SUMO-1 to AR. In line with these results, the AR mutant lacking the LBD showed an impaired interaction with ARIP3 and had also weakened sumoylation compared to the wild-type AR in intact cells (unpublished results). Purified GST-ARIP3 was also able to enhance SUMO-1 attachment to AR in vitro. Additionally, sumoylation of the purified recombinant c-Jun was promoted by GST-ARIP3. c-Jun has previously been demonstrated to be SUMO-1 modified at the lysine residue 229 (Müller et al. 2000). Interesting differences in the substrate-specificity of PIAS proteins were observed, when SUMO-1 modification of the nuclear receptor coactivator protein GRIP1 was studied. GRIP1 was sumoylated when coexpressed with SUMO-1 in COS-1 cells. Cotransfection of PIAS proteins resulted in enhanced SUMO-1 modification of GRIP1 in a PIAS protein-selective fashion. ARIP3 had only a modest effect, but Miz1 and especially PIAS1 strongly promoted the attachment of SUMO-1 to GRIP1. Thus, different PIAS proteins seem to act as E3 SUMO ligases with dissimilar substrate preferences for target proteins.

Deletion of the zinc-binding structure of ARIP3 abolished its ability to enhance sumoylation of both AR and c-Jun *in vitro*, whereas the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3 was not required for this function. c-Cbl and a number of other RING-type ubiquitin ligases contain a conserved tryptophan residue in the RING domain, and this residue is critical for the E3 ligase activity of c-Cbl (Joazeiro et al. 1999). PIAS proteins also harbor a conserved tryptophan in the middle of their RING finger-like structure (Fig. 2), and

mutation of this tryptophan to alanine abrogated the ability of ARIP3 to enhance sumoylation of c-Jun and AR *in vitro*. Similarly, the RING-like domain of PIAS1 was required for its E3 activity towards GRIP1, since the deletion of this region (amino acids 310-407) or mutation of tryptophan 372 to alanine converted PIAS1 inactive.

These results suggest that PIAS proteins function as E3-like ligases in the SUMO-1 modification pathway. They fulfill the criteria of E3 ligases, since they interact with specific substrates and the E2 conjugating enzyme and promote sumoylation in a fashion that is dependent on the RING finger-like domain. Contemporaneous studies from other laboratories reported that Siz1 and a related protein Siz2 (Nfi1), yeast homologs of mammalian PIAS proteins, promote sumoylation in yeast, and Siz1 was also shown to enhance sumoylation of septins *in vitro* (Johnson and Gupta 2001, Takahashi et al. 2001b and 2001c). In addition, PIAS1 and PIASy are able to enhance SUMO-1 modification of p53 and LEF1, respectively (Kahyo et al. 2001, Sachdev et al. 2001), and Schmidt and Müller (2002) demonstrated that PIAS1 and PIASx β act as SUMO E3 ligases for c-Jun and p53. In conclusion, the PIAS family members have been identified as the first representatives of E3 SUMO ligases, underlying the importance of the PIAS protein family in the SUMO-1 modification pathway (Fig. 9).



Fig. 9. PIAS proteins function as E3 SUMO ligases in the sumoylation pathway. S, SUMO-1. PIAS proteins have been reported to enhance sumoylation of AR, GRIP1, c-Jun, p53, LEF1 and yeast septins. For more details, see text.

As mentioned before, disruption of the zinc-binding structure of ARIP3 influenced markedly the function of ARIP3 as a steroid receptor coregulator. Similarly, mutation of Trp383, that abolishes the E3 SUMO ligase activity of ARIP3, converted ARIP3 from an activator to a repressor of AR-dependent transcription on the minimal ARE₂TATA promoter. Deletion of the zinc-binding region of PIAS1, or mutation of the conserved Trp

in this region, changed also PIAS1 function dramatically. It was somewhat surprising that ARIP3 devoid of the SUMO ligase activity repressed AR function, since SUMO-1 modifications are shown to regulate negatively the activity of AR (Poukka et al. 2000). In addition, the activity of the sumoylation-deficient AR mutant (K386R,K520R) on the ARE₂TATA promoter was repressed by ARIP3, in contrast to activation of wild-type AR under the same conditions. However, the effects of PIAS proteins on the AR-dependent transcription cannot be merely mediated through sumoylation of AR. PIAS proteins have multiple interaction partners, and they are also able to influence the sumoylation of other proteins involved in transcription, such as the coactivator GRIP1. Therefore, activation or repression of transcription by PIAS proteins most likely reflects their combinatorial effects on different factors regulating a given promoter.

Even though the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3 was not required for either its own sumoylation or the E3 ligase activity, the motif was critical for the coregulator function of ARIP3 on AR-dependent transcription: deletion of this motif (amino acids 467-487) abolished the ability of ARIP3 to modulate the activity of AR. Thus, the SUMO-1binding motif seems to have a role in the function of ARIP3 that is distinct from the SUMO-1 ligase activity. Endocytic proteins with ubiquitin-interacting motifs play a role in targeting of monoubiquitinated membrane proteins to endocytic pathway (Polo et al. 2002, Raiborg et al. 2002, Shih et al. 2002). Ubiquitinated proteins and ubiquitin-binding motifcontaining proteins have been proposed to form an extensive network of interactions that could influence many aspects of cellular physiology (Polo et al. 2002). Likewise, the SUMO-1-binding motifs of cellular proteins may have a role in formation of interactions with sumoylated proteins and in targeting of proteins to specific cellular locations. Neither the sumoylation of AR nor the SUMO-1-binding motif of ARIP3 was required for the AR-ARIP3 interaction in coimmunoprecipitation experiments. However, the SUMO-1-binding motif may mediate the interaction of ARIP3 with other sumoylated proteins involved in the AR-dependent transcription. Taken together, these results suggest that the modulatory effects of PIAS proteins on steroid receptor-dependent transcription are in most cases exerted through their SUMO-1-binding and SUMO-1 ligase activities.

6. SUMO-1 MODIFICATIONS REGULATE THE FUNCTION OF GRIP1 (III, IV)

GRIP1 (Hong et al. 1997, Leo and Chen 2000) was demonstrated to be subject to covalent modifications by SUMO-1. GRIP1 was sumoylated at several lysine residues, since coexpression of SUMO-1 with GRIP1 in COS-1 cells resulted in the formation of at least four higher molecular mass bands, which were confirmed to be SUMO-1-modified GRIP1. The possibility that the latter GRIP1 forms could result from the attachment of polySUMO-1 chain was also considered, because Pichler et al. (2002) recently reported that the nucleoporin RanBP2 is very efficiently modified by up to 25 molecules of SUMO-

1, and polySUMO-1 chains are formed on RanBP2. Digestion of SUMO-1 modified GRIP1 with the recombinant isopeptidase Ulp1 resulted only one digestion species corresponding to one SUMO-1 molecule, suggesting that a single SUMO-1 monomer is attached to more than one lysine residue in GRIP1 (unpublished results).

GRIP1 sequence contains four lysine residues (lysines 239, 731,788 and 1452) that fulfill the consensus sumoylation sequence (Fig. 10). Mutation of lysine 1452 to arginine did not affect the sumoylation of GRIP1, but lysine 239 and central lysines 731 and 788 were used as SUMO-1 attachment sites. Additional conjugation sites may exist, since combined mutation of lysines 239, 731 and 788 did not abolish sumoylation totally. Lysine 66 is located in an incomplete consensus SUMO-1 attachment sequence, FKPD, and the possibility that it is used as a residual SUMO-1 attachment site was considered. However, combination of K66R mutation to other mutations did not reduce the sumoylation (unpublished results). Mutation of the major sumoylation sites K239, K731 and K788 may also lead to sumoylation of K1452 that is not otherwise subjected to modification.



Fig. 10. Structure of GRIP1. NID, nuclear receptor-interaction domain; AD1 and AD2, activation domains 1 and 2; I, II and III, LXXLL motifs I, II and III. The roles of different NID regions in nuclear receptor binding are shown. The regions interacting with different coregulators are indicated. Arrows depict the consensus sumoylation sites (Lys 239, 731, 788 and 1452) (adapted from Ma et al. 1999).

The localization of GRIP1(K731,788R) in COS-1 cells did not differ from that of wild-type GRIP1, as demonstrated by indirect immunocytochemistry and fluorescence microscopy. However, the resolution of the confocal fluorescence microscopy may not be good enough to detect subtle differences in localization. In addition, other methods such as microscopy of living cells and photobleaching techniques are needed to visualize possible kinetic differences in protein targeting. Lysines 731 and 788 are located in the nuclear receptor interaction domain (NID) of GRIP1 containing the three LXXLL motifs used for the interaction with NR LBDs (Ding et al. 1998, Leo and Chen 2000). Interestingly, mutation of lysines 731 and 788 impaired the nuclear colocalization of GRIP1 with AR,

indicating the importance of these sumoylation sites in targeting or recruitment of GRIP1 to AR-containing subnuclear sites.

SUMO-1 modifications are involved in subcellular and subnuclear targeting of proteins (Melchior 2000, Yeh et al. 2000). Sumoylation of PML is required for its targeting to nuclear PML bodies (Müller et al. 1998), and SUMO-1 modification of RanGAP1 directs the protein to cytoplasmic filaments of the nuclear pore complex (Mahajan et al. 1997). In addition, attachment of SUMO-1 to PML is needed for PML-mediated recruitment of other proteins, indicating an important role of sumoylation in protein complex formation (Ishov et al. 1999). SUMO-1 modification of GRIP1 could direct this coactivator to transcriptionally active sites. It is currently unclear why colocalization of GRIP1(K731,788R) with AR varied among the cells; the two proteins localized in separate nuclear compartments in about half of the unsynchronized cells, whereas the other half displayed colocalization pattern indistinguishable from that with the wild-type GRIP1. Potential explanations include cell cycle related factors that influence nuclear architecture. GRIP1 has been shown to localize to nuclear foci, a subset of which associates with the PML bodies (Baumann et al. 2000), and it is plausible that sumoylation of GRIP1 influences the tethering of the coactivator to these bodies. Interestingly, sumoylation of PML and association of certain proteins with the PML bodies are indeed regulated with the cell cycle (Everett et al. 1999, Grobelny et al. 2000, Wu et al. 2000).

In agreement with impaired colocalization of GRIP1(K731,788R) with AR, mutation of lysines 731 and 788 blunted the transcriptional activity of GRIP1 on ARdependent transcription. Disruption of lysines 731 and 788 also attenuated the ability of GRIP1 to activate the function of the AR LBD in isolation. However, the NID mutations did not influence the capacity of GRIP1 to modulate the activity of AR AF1. Thus, lysines 731 and 788 seem to be important for the function of GRIP1 on the AR LBD. It is possible that SUMO-1 modifications alter the binding of GRIP1 to AR. However, since LXXLL motifs interact directly and specifically with NR LBDs, it is unlikely that SUMO-1 molecule attached to the lysine residue in the immediate vicinity of the LXXLL motifs could strengthen the interaction. Thus, it is more likely that the effects on the transcription are reflected from the targeting and colocalization of GRIP1 and AR.

It was somewhat unexpected that mutations of the SUMO-1 acceptor sites in GRIP1 attenuated its ability to enhance the AR-dependent transcription, since elimination of sumoylation sites from many DNA-binding transcription factors, such as AR, p53, c-Jun and c-Myb, increases transcriptional activity (Gostissa et al. 1999, Rodriguez et al. 1999, Müller et al. 2000, Poukka et al. 2000, Bies et al. 2002). However, it is possible that SUMO-1 modifications of AR and GRIP1 occur at different stages of the AR transcription complex formation to serve distinct roles in gene activation. A possible model, as illustrated in Fig. 11, is that sumoylation of GRIP1 by the PIAS proteins recruits the coactivator to AR-containing subnuclear sites. Subsequently, AR-bound GRIP1 recruits

CBP/p300 and other coactivators to the promoter, and the target gene transcription is activated. Sumoylation of AR may lead to displacement of the receptor from DNA after the first cycle of transcription has commenced. In view of this model, sumoylation may also regulate the function of other coactivators, such as CBP/p300, involved in the regulation of transcription. Further experiments, such as chromatin immunoprecipitation assays, are needed to confirm this model.



Fig. 11. A model representing the possible roles of SUMO-1 modifications in the AR-dependent transcription. Unmodified GRIP1 localizes in subnuclear lumps that are distinct from AR-containing granules. Sumoylation of GRIP1 by PIAS proteins recruits GRIP1 to AR-containing subnuclear sites. Subsequently, AR-bound GRIP1 recruits CBP/p300 and other coactivators to the promoter and AR-dependent transcription is stimulated. The specific effects of SUMO-1 modifications on AR function are still unclear but sumoylation might lead for example to displacement of the receptor from DNA.

7. PIAS PROTEINS COOPERATE WITH GRIP1 IN STEROID RECEPTOR-DEPENDENT TRANSCRIPTION (II, IV)

The effects of PIAS proteins on steroid receptor-dependent transcription can be mediated by the interactions with other coregulator(s) involved in the regulation of transcription. Thus, it is important to identify interaction partners of PIAS proteins to better understand their function. It was demonstrated that ARIP3, as well as Miz1, PIAS1 and PIAS3, interact with the nuclear receptor coactivator GRIP1. In mammalian two-hybrid assay, the C terminus of GRIP1 exhibited the strongest interaction with ARIP3. However, ARIP3 was also able to interact with the N terminus and the middle part of GRIP1, but to a lesser extent than with the C terminus. The C terminus of GRIP1 contains activation domain 2 (AD2) that has been demonstrated to bind the Zac1 protein and the arginine methyltransferase CARM1 (Chen et al. 1999a, Huang and Stallcup 2000). The zincbinding structure of ARIP3 forms the interaction interface for GRIP1, since deletion of this region, or mutation of two conserved cysteines of the zinc-binding structure, abolished the interaction of ARIP3 with GIRP1, as demonstrated by mammalian two-hybrid assays and immunoprecipitation experiments.

Coexpression of PIAS proteins and GRIP1 in HeLa cells resulted in a synergistic enhancement of AR-dependent transcription. Miz1 and PIAS1 were more potent AR coactivators than ARIP3 and PIAS3, and they also showed a more pronounced synergism with GRIP1 on the AR-dependent transcription. These results correlate with the abilities of PIAS proteins to promote sumoylation of GRIP1. Unlike other PIAS proteins, PIAS3 did not act in a synergistic fashion with GRIP1. As discussed above, sumoylation of PIAS3 was also weaker than that of other PIAS proteins, but the possible connection between these results requires further investigation. ARIP3 Δ 347-418 and ARIP3(C385,388S) mutants did not cooperate with GRIP1, attesting to the importance of the zinc-binding region for ARIP3 function. ARIP3 Δ 347-418 did not interact with either AR or GRIP1 in coimmunoprecipitation experiments. However, it repressed the activity of AR, and when coexpressed with GRIP1, it also blunted the GRIP1 coactivator function on AR-dependent transcription. It is likely that in intact cells, ARIP3 Δ 347-418 is still able to interact with both AR and the central domain of GRIP1 through its other regions. These interactions would, in turn, block the activity of AR and the ability of GRIP1 to activate the receptor action.

The interactions of ARIP3 with AR and GRIP1 *in vivo* may be also stabilized by some currently unknown proteins existing in the same complex. Good candidates are free SUMO-1, other SUMO-1-containing proteins, or proteins of the SUMO-1 modification pathway. The presence of the SUMO-1-binding motif in the ARIP3 sequence suggests that this motif may play a role in the complex formation. The nature of ARIP3-AR-GRIP1 interactions and other proteins involved in the complex formation remain to be characterized. The involvement of sumoylation in the interaction and cooperation of PIAS proteins and GRIP1 is also required for ARIP3 to function as an E3-type SUMO-1 ligase. In addition, PIAS proteins – PIAS1 to the greatest extent – are able to promote SUMO-1 modification of GRIP1. In keeping with these results, the synergistic effect of PIAS proteins and GRIP1 was abolished when the main sumoylation sites of GRIP1 were eliminated, indicating the crucial role that SUMO-1 modifications play in transcriptional cooperation between GRIP1 and PIAS proteins.

In summary, this study has clarified the function of PIAS proteins by elucidating their novel role as SUMO E3 ligases and SUMO-1-binding proteins. These activities were

found out to be important for the ability of PIAS proteins to act as steroid receptor coregulators. Furthermore, sumoylation of GRIP1 was described as a new mechanism to regulate the function of this coactivator. Together these results suggest an emerging role of sumoylation in the regulation of transcription. However, genetic studies using null mutants are required to confirm the role that sumoylation and PIAS proteins play *in vivo* in steroid receptor-dependent transcription. Specific inhibitors of sumoylation would also help to elucidate the biological significance of SUMO-1 modifications in the transcriptional regulation. Finally, the role of sumoylation in the assembly and/or disassembly of transcriptionally active protein complexes on gene promoters remains to be assessed.

CONCLUSIONS

The members of the conserved PIAS protein family modulate the signaling mediated by AR and other steroid receptors. AR is covalently modified by SUMO-1, and in addition, SUMO-1 modifications of other transcription factors and cellular proteins are emerging as important factors in the regulation of protein-protein interactions and cellular targeting of proteins. This study characterizes the function of PIAS proteins in steroid receptor-dependent transcription and the role of PIAS proteins in the SUMO-1 modification pathway. The results are summarized as follows:

- Ectopically expressed PIAS1, PIAS3, ARIP3/PIASxα and Miz1/PIASxβ modulate the transcription mediated by AR, GR, ER and PR. These effects are dependent on the receptor, the promoter and the cell line, and PIAS proteins can function as both coactivators and corepressors. PIAS1 and Miz1, but not ARIP3 and PIAS3, contain an intrinsic transcription activation function.
- PIAS proteins interact with both SUMO-1 and Ubc9. They colocalize with SUMO-1 in the same nuclear granules and are able to recruit other sumoylated proteins in a noncovalent fashion. PIAS proteins are themselves covalently modified by SUMO-1, and importantly, they also act as E3 SUMO-1 ligases capable of enhancing sumoylation of different proteins, such as AR, the steroid receptor coactivator GRIP1 and c-Jun. The E3 SUMO-1 ligase activity is dependent on the conserved RING finger-like structure of PIAS proteins.
- GRIP1 is sumoylated at multiple lysine residues. Mutation of the major sumoylation sites of GRIP1 blunts its coactivator function in steroid receptor-mediated transcription and impairs nuclear colocalization of GRIP1 with AR.
- PIAS proteins and GRIP1 interact with each other, and they are able to cooperate in steroid receptor-dependent transcription. The cooperation of PIAS proteins and GRIP1 is dependent on the PIAS RING finger-like structure and the sumoylation sites of GRIP1.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Tämä väitöskirjatutkimus tehtiin professori Olli Jänteen ja dosentti Jorma Palvimon tutkimusryhmässä Helsingin yliopiston Biolääketieteen laitoksella. Kiitos Olli Jänteelle ohjauksesta ja niistä hienoista puitteista, joissa oli ilo työskennellä. Suuri kiitos kuuluu Jorma Palvimolle, joka on eniten vaikuttanut väitöskirjani syntyyn. Kiitos parhaasta ohjauksesta, mitä aloitteleva tutkija voi toivoa. En vieläkään ole lakannut ihmettelemästä kuinka määrättömästi tietoa, ideoita, näkemyksiä ja innostusta voi yhdeltä ihmiseltä saada. Kiitos kokonaisvaltaisesta osallistumisesta.

Kiitän myös Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology tutkijakoulua tuesta ja kursseista, sekä seurantaryhmäni jäseniä Olli Silvennoista ja Lea Sistosta osallistumisesta projektiini. Lealle ja Ismo Ulmaselle suurkiitos väitöskirjani tarkastuksesta ja hyvistä kommenteista.

Ulla Karvosta, Marianne Vihistä, Saara Aittomäkeä ja Olli Silvennoista kiitän antoisasta yhteistyöstä. Ullalle erityiskiitos ankaran törkiän kolokon hienoista mikroskooppikuvista (ja hyvistä kirjavinkeistä). Kati Ekholm ja Saija Kotola ansaitsevat isot kiitokset korvaamattomasta avusta labrassa. Varsinkin viimeisen työn- ja stressintäyteisen vuoden aikana Saijan ihailtava ammattitaito ja huolellisuus helpottivat tutkimukseni edistymistä valtavasti. Kiitän myös Leenaa, Seijaa, Pirjoa ja Katjaa kaikesta saamastani avusta.

A couple of words in English for those who do not feel comfortable with the Finnish language: Millions of thanks to everybody who has worked with me in the AR-lab. Especially I want to thank Marika, Sha, Andrii, Ulla, Sirpa, Zhigang, James and Henrikki for sharing the same situation with me as PhD students. I have had a good time. Thanks to Jorma, Henrikki, Sirpa, Asta and Piia for numerous lunches we have had together. I am also grateful to all Johannas, Laura, Maria and other people with a good sense of humour for excellent bad jokes and many laughs we have shared.

Kiitos kaikille lukuisille mukaville sukulaisille kannustuksesta. Äidille ja isälle erikoiskiitos siitä, että ovat olleet koko ajan hengessä mukana. Äitiä on myös pakko kiittää "haitannooko tuo mittään" elämänasenteen opettamisesta. Siitä on ollut mahdottoman paljon hyötyä tässä työssä. Kiitokset lisäksi Oskulle ja Iikalle, jotka ovat antaneet perspektiiviä elämääni, ja jotka ovat aina jaksaneet olla vilpittömän ihmeissään siitä, miten joku viitsii tehdä sitä mitä teen.

Erittäin tärkeänä taustavoimana ovat olleet Jyväskylä-ajoista lähtien Tytöt. Kiitos Päivikille, Marittalle ja Piiiialle sähköposteista, mökkiviikonlopuista ja ekskursioista, joita on tehty lukuisiin paikkoihiin akselilla San Diego – Kaustinen. Anttia on vaikea kiittää, koska on niin paljon kiitettävää. Kiitos jo pelkästä olemassaolosta, siitä olen ollut kovasti kiitollinen joka pävä. Tarkempi erittely jääköön myöhempään. Kiitti.

Helsinki, marraskuu 2002

REFERENCES

Aarnisalo P, Santti H, Poukka H, Palvimo JJ and Jänne OA (1999) Transcription activating and repressing functions of the androgen receptor are differentially influenced by mutations in the deoxyribonucleic acidbinding domain. Endocrinology 140: 3097-3105

Adler AJ, Danielsen M and Robins DM (1992) Androgen-specific gene activation via a consensus glucocorticoid response element is determined by interaction with nonreceptor factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89: 11660-11663

Albert TK, Hanzawa H, Legtenberg YIA, de Ruwe MJ, van den Heuvel FAJ, Collart MA, Boelens R and Timmers HThM (2002) Identification of a ubiquitin-protein ligase subunit within the CCR4-NOT transcription repressor complex. EMBO J 21: 355-364

Alen P, Claessens F, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Peeters B (1999) The androgen receptor aminoterminal domain plays a key role in p160 coactivator-stimulated gene transcription. Mol Cell Biol 19: 6085-6097

Al-Khodairy F, Enoch T, Hagan IM and Carr AM (1995) The Schizosaccharomyces pombe hus5 gene encodes an ubiquitin conjugating enzyme required for normal mitosis. J Cell Sci 108: 475-486

Anzick SL, Kononen J, Walker RL, Azorsa DO, Tanner MM, Guan X-Y, Sauter G, Kallioniemi O-P, Trent JM and Melzer PS (1997) AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science 277: 965-968

Apionishev S, Malhotra D, Raghavachari S, Tanda S and Rasooly RS (2001) The Drosophila UBC9 homologue lesswright mediates the disjunction of homologues in meiosis I. Genes Cells 6: 215-224

Aranda A and Pascual A (2001) Nuclear hormone receptors and gene expression. Physiol Rev 81: 1269-1304

Aravind L and Koonin EV (2000) SAP - a putative DNA-binding motif involved in chromosomal organization. Trends Biochem Sci 25: 112-114

Arnold SF, Vorojeikina DP and Notides AC (1995) Phosphorylation of tyrosine 537 on the human estrogen receptor is required for binding to an estrogen response element. J Biol Chem 270: 30205-30212

Azuma Y, Tan S-H, Cavenagh MM, Ainsztein AM, Saitoh H and Dasso M (2001) Expression and regulation of the mammalian SUMO-1 E1 enzyme. FASEB J 15: 1825-1827

Baumann CT, Ma H, Wolford R, Reyes JC, Maruvada P, Lim C, Yen PM, Stallcup MR and Hager GL (2001) The glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) localizes in discrete nuclear foci that associate with ND10 bodies and are enriched in components of the 26S proteasome. Mol Endocrinol 15: 485-500

Bayer P, Arndt A, Metzger S, Mahajan R, Melchior F, Jaenicke R and Becker J (1998) Structure determination of the small ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1. J Mol Biol 280: 275-286

Beato M and Sanchez-Pacheco A (1996) Interaction of steroid hormone receptors with the transcription initiation complex. Endocr Rev 17: 587-609

Beato M, Chavez S and Truss M (1996) Transcriptional regulation by steroid hormones. Steroids 61: 240-251

Beato M, Herrlich P and Schütz G (1995) Steroid hormone receptors: many actors in search of a plot. Cell 83: 851-857

Bernier-Villamor V, Sampson DA, Matunis MJ and Lima CD (2002) Structural basis for E2-mediated SUMO conjugation revealed by a complex between ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc9 and RanGAP1. Cell 108: 345-356

Betz A, Lampen N, Martinek S, Young MW and Darnell Jr. JE (2001) A *Drosophila* PIAS homologue negatively regulates stat92E. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 9563-9568

Bevan CL, Hoare S, Claessens F, Heery DM and Parker MG (1999) The AF1 and AF2 domains of the androgen receptor interact with distinct regions of SRC1. Mol Cell Biol 19: 8383-8392

Bies J, Markus J and Wolff L (2002) Covalent attachment of SUMO-1 protein to the negative regulatory domain of the c-Myb transcription factor modifies its stability and transactivation capacity. J Biol Chem 277: 8999-9009

Bird AP and Wolffe AP (1999) Methylation-induced repression - belts, braces, and chromatin. Cell 99: 451-454

Blanco JCG, Minucci S, Lu J, Yang X-J, Walker KK, Chen H, Evans RM, Nakatani Y and Ozato K (1998) The histone acetylase PCAF is a nuclear receptor coactivator. Genes Dev 12: 1638-1651

Boonyaratanakornkit V, Melvin V, Prendergast P, Altmann M, Ronfani L, Bianchi ME, Taraseviciene L, Nordeen SK, Allegretto EA and Edwards DP (1998) High-mobility group chromatin proteins 1 and 2 functionally interact with steroid hormone receptors to enhance their DNA binding in vitro and transcriptional activity in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 18: 4471-4487

Bourguet W, Ruff M, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H and Moras D (1995) Crystal structure of the ligandbinding domain of the human nuclear receptor RXR-alpha. Nature 375: 377-382

Brzozowski AM, Pike ACW, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engström O, Öhman L, Greene GL, Gustafsson J-Å and Carlquist M (1997) Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature 389: 753-758

Buchberger A (2002) From UBA to UBX: new words in the ubiquitin vocabulary. Trends Cell Biol 12: 216-221

Burakov D, Crofts LA, Chang C-P B and Freedman LP (2002) Reciprocal recruitment of DRIP/Mediator and p160 coactivator complexes in vivo by estrogen receptor. J Biol Chem 277: 14359-14362

Buschmann T, Fuchs SY, Lee C-G, Pan Z-Q and Ronai Z (2000) SUMO-1 modification of Mdm2 prevents its self-ubiquitination and increases Mdm2 ability to ubiquitinate p53. Cell 101: 753-762

Chakrabarti SR, Sood R, Nandi S and Nucifora G (2000) Posttranslational modification of TEL and TEL/AML1 by SUMO-1 and cell-cycle-dependent assembly into nuclear bodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 13281-13285

Chakravarti D, LaMorte VJ, Nelson MC, Nakajima T, Schulman IG, Juguilon H, Montminy M and Evans RM (1996) Role of CBP/P300 in nuclear receptor signalling. Nature 383: 99-103

Chan N-L and Hill CP (2001) Defining polyubiquitin chain topology. Nat Struct Biol 8: 650-652

Chang CS, Kokontis J and Liao ST (1988) Molecular cloning of human and rat complementary DNA encoding androgen receptors. Science 240: 324-326

Chen D, Ma H, Hong H, Koh SS, Huang S-M, Schurter BT, Aswad DW and Stallcup MR (1999a) Regulation of transcription by a protein methyltransferase. Science 284: 2174-2177

Chen D, Pace PE, Coombes RC and Ali S (1999b) Phosphorylation of human estrogen receptor α by protein kinase A regulates dimerization. Mol Cell Biol 19: 1002-1015

Chen H, Lin RJ, Schiltz RL, Chakravarti D, Nash A, Nagy L, Privalsky ML, Nakatani Y and Evans RM (1997) Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell 90: 569-580

Chen H, Lin RJ, Xie W, Wilpitz D and Evans RM (1999c) Regulation of hormone-induced histone hyperacetylation and gene activation via acetylation of an acetylase. Cell 98: 675-686

Chen JD and Evans RM (1995) A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature 377: 454-457

Cho SY, Jeon JW, Lee SH and Park SS (2000) p67 isoform of mouse disabled 2 protein acts as a transcriptional activator during the differentiation of F9 cells. Biochem J 352: 645-650

Chung CD, Liao J, Liu B, Rao X, Jay P, Berta P and Shuai K (1997) Specific inhibition of Stat3 signal transduction by PIAS3. Science 278:1803-1805

Claessens F, Alen P, Devos A, Peeters B, Verhoeven G and Rombauts W (1996) The androgen-specific probasin response element 2 interacts differentially with androgen and glucocorticoid receptors. J Biol Chem 271: 19013-19016

Claessens F, Celis L, Peeters B, Heyns W, Verhoeven G and Rombauts W (1989) Functional characterization of an androgen response element in the first intron of the C3(1) gene of prostatic binding protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 164: 833-840

Cleutjens KB, van Eekelen CC, van der Korput HA, Brinkmann AO and Trapman J (1996) Two androgen response regions cooperate in steroid hormone regulated activity of the prostate-specific antigen promoter. J Biol Chem 271: 6379-6388

Coccia EM, Stellacci E, Orsatti R, Benedetti E, Giacomini E, Marziali G, Valdez BC and Battistini A (2002) Protein inhibitor of activated signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-1 (PIAS-1) regulates IFN-γ response in macrophage cell lines. Cell Signal 14: 537-545

Cowley SM, Hoare S, Mosselman S and Parker MG (1997) Estrogen receptors α and β form heterodimers on DNA. J Biol Chem 272: 19858-19862

Dahmus ME (1996) Reversible phosphorylation of the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. J Biol Chem 271: 19009-19012

Darimont BD, Wagner RL, Apriletti JW, Stallcup MR, Kushner PJ, Baxter JD, Fletterick RJ and Yamamoto KR (1998) Structure and specificity of nuclear receptor-coactivator interactions. Genes Dev 12: 3343-3356

David G, Neptune MA and DePinho RA (2002) SUMO-1 modification of histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) modulates its biological activities. J Biol Chem 277: 23658-23663

Deroo BJ, Rentsch C, Sampath S, Young J, DeFranco DB and Archer TK (2002) Proteasomal inhibition enhances glucocorticoid receptor transactivation and alters its subnuclear trafficking. Mol Cell Biol 22: 4113-4123

Desterro JMP, Rodriguez MS and Hay RT (1998) SUMO-1 modification of $I\kappa B\alpha$ inhibits NF- κB activation. Mol Cell 2: 233-239

Desterro JMP, Rodriguez MS, Kemp GD and Hay RT (1999) Identification of the enzyme required for activation of the small ubiquitin-like protein (SUMO-1). J Biol Chem 274: 10618-10624

Desterro JMP, Thomson J and Hay RT (1997) Ubch9 conjugates SUMO but not ubiquitin. FEBS Lett 417: 297-300

Ding XF, Anderson CM, Ma H, Hong H, Uht RM, Kushner PJ and Stallcup MR (1998) Nuclear receptorbinding sites of coactivators glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) and steroid receptor coactivator 1 (SRC-1): multiple motifs with different binding specificities. Mol Endocrinol 12: 302-313

Dohmen RJ, Stappen R, McGrath JP, Forrova H, Kolarov J, Goffeau A and Varshavsky S (1995) An essential yeast gene encoding a homolog of ubiquitin-activating enzyme. J Biol Chem 270: 18099-18109

Drouin J, Trifiro MA, Plante RK, Nemer M, Eriksson P and Wrange Ö (1989) Glucocorticoid receptor binding to a specific DNA sequence is required for hormone-dependent repression of pro-opiomelanocortin gene transcription. Mol Cell Biol 9: 5305-5314

Duprez E, Saurin AJ, Desterro JM, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Howe K, Boddy MN, Solomon E, de The H, Hay RT and Freemont PS (1999) SUMO-1 modification of the acute promyelocytic leukaemia protein PML: implications for nuclear localization. J Cell Sci 112: 381-393

Everett RD, Lomonte P, Sternsdorf T, van Driel R and Orr A (1999) Cell cycle regulation of PML modification and ND10 composition. J Cell Sci 112: 4581-4588

Fang S, Jensen JP, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH and Weissman AM (2000) Mdm2 is a RING finger-dependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. J Biol Chem 275: 8945-8951

Fogal V, Gostissa M, Sandy P, Zacchi P, Sternsdorf T, Jensen K, Pandolfi PP, Will H, Schneider C and Del Sal G (2000) Regulation of p53 activity in nuclear bodies by a specific PML isoform. EMBO J 19: 6185-6195

Fondell JD, Ge H and Roeder RG (1996) Ligand induction of a transcriptionally active thyroid hormone receptor coactivator complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 8329-8333

Font de Mora J and Brown M (2000) AIB1 is a conduit for kinase-mediated growth factor signaling to the estrogen receptor. Mol Cell Biol 20: 5041-5047

Ford J, McEwan IJ, Wright APH and Gustafsson J-Å (1997) Involvement of the transcription factor IID protein complex in gene activation by the N-terminal transactivation domain of the glucocorticoid receptor in vitro. Mol Endocrinol 11: 1467-1475

Freedman LP (1992) Anatomy of the steroid receptor zinc finger region. Endocr Rev 13: 129-145

Fryer CJ and Archer TK (1998) Chromatin remodelling by the glucocorticoid receptor requires the BRG1 complex. Nature 393: 88-91

Fu M, Wang C, Reutens AT, Wang J, Angeletti RH, Siconolfi-Baez L, Ogryzko V, Avantaggiati M-L and Pestell RG (2000) p300 and p300/cAMP-response element-binding protein-associated factor acetylate the androgen receptor at sites governing hormone-dependent transactivation. J Biol Chem 275: 20853-20860

Fu M, Wang C, Wang J, Zhang X, Sakamaki T, Yeung YG, Chang C, Hopp T, Fuqua SAW, Jaffray E, Hay RT, Palvimo JJ, Jänne OA and Pestell G (2002) Androgen receptor acetylation governs transactivation and MEKK1-induced apoptosis without affecting in vitro sumoylation and trans-repression function. Mol Cell Biol 22: 3373-3388

Giguere V (1999) Orphan nuclear receptors: from gene to function. Endocr Rev 20: 689-725

Glass CK (1994) Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor monomers, dimers, and heterodimers. Endocr Rev 15: 391-407

Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (2000) The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. Genes Dev 14: 121-141

Göhring F, Schwab BL, Nicotera P, Leist M and Fackelmayer FO (1997) The novel SAR-binding domain of scaffold attachment factor A (SAF-A) is a target in apoptotic nuclear breakdown. EMBO J 16: 7361-7371

Gong L, Kamitani T, Fujise K, Caskey LS and Yeh ETH (1997) Preferential interaction of sentrin with a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, Ubc9. J Biol Chem 272: 28198-28201

Gong L, Li B, Millas S and Yeh ETH (1999) Molecular cloning and characterization of human AOS1 and UBA2, components of the sentrin-activating enzyme complex. FEBS Lett 448: 185-189

Gong L, Millas S, Maul GG and Yeh ETH (2000) Differential regulation of sentrinized proteins by a novel sentrin-specific protease. J Biol Chem 275: 3355-3359

Goodrich JA, Cutler G and Tjian R (1996) Contacts in context: promoter specificity and macromolecular interactions in transcription. Cell 84: 825-830

Goodson ML, Hong Y, Rogers R, Matunis MJ, Park-Sarge O-K and Sarge KD (2001) SUMO-1 modification regulates the DNA binding activity of heat shock transcription factor 2, a promyelocytic leukemia nuclear body associated transcription factor. J Biol Chem 276: 18513-18518

Gostissa M, Hengstermann A, Fogal V, Sandy P, Schwarz SE, Scheffner M and Del Sal G (1999) Activation of p53 by conjugation to the ubiquitin-like protein SUMO-1. EMBO J 18: 6462-6471

Grobelny JV, Godwin AK and Broccoli D (2000) ALT-associated PML bodies are present in viable cells and are enriched in cells in the G_2/M phase of the cell cycle. J Cell Sci 113: 4577-4585

Gross M, Liu B, Tan J-A, French FS, Carey M and Shuai K (2001) Distinct effects of PIAS proteins on androgen-mediated gene activation in prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 20: 3880-3887

Hampsey M and Reinberg D (1999) RNA polymerase II as a control panel for multiple coactivator complexes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 9: 132-139

Hanstein B, Eckner R, DiRenzo J, Halachmi S, Liu H, Searcy B, Kurokawa R and Brown M (1996) p300 is a component of an estrogen receptor coactivator complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 11540-11545

Härd T, Kellenbach E, Boelens R, Maler BA, Dahlman K, Freedman LP, Carlstedt-Duke J, Yamamoto KR, Gustafsson J-Å and Kaptein R (1990) Solution structure of the glucocorticoid receptor DNA-binding domain. Science 249: 157-160

Hardeland U, Steinacher R, Jiricny J and Schär P (2002) Modification of the human thymine-DNA glycosylase by ubiquitin-like proteins facilitates enzymatic turnover. EMBO J 21: 1456-1464

Hari KL, Cook KR and Karpen GH (2001) The *Drosophila* Su(var)2-10 locus regulates chromosome structure and function and encodes a member of the PIAS protein family. Genes Dev 15: 1334-1348

Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S and Parker MG (1997) A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature 387: 733-736

Heinzel T, Lavinsky RM, Mullen T-M, Södeström M, Laherty CD, Torchia J, Yang W-M, Brard G, Ngo SD, Davie JR, Seto E, Eisenman RN, Rose DW, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (1997) A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature 387: 43-48

Hermanson O, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (2002) Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. Trends Endocrin Met 13: 55-60

Hicke L (2001) Protein regulation by monoubiquitin. Nature Rev Mol Cell Biol 2: 195-201

Hittelman AB, Burakov D, Iniguez-Lluhi JA, Freedman LP and Garabedian MJ (1999) Differential regulation of glucocorticoid receptor transcriptional activation via AF-1-associated proteins. EMBO J 18: 5380-5388

Hochstrasser M (1996) Ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation. Annu Rev Genet 30: 405-439

Hochstrasser M (2001) SP-RING for SUMO: new functions bloom for a ubiquitin-like protein. Cell 107: 5-8

Hofmann K and Falquet L (2001) A ubiquitin-interacting motif conserved in components of the proteasomal and lysosomal protein degradation systems. Trends Biochem Sci 26: 347-350

Hollenberg SM and Evans RM (1988) Multiple and cooperative trans-activation domains of the human glucocorticoid receptor. Cell 55: 899-906

Honda R and Yasuda H (2000) Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING finger domain of the ligase. Oncogene 19: 1473-1476

Hong H, Kohli K, Garabedian MJ and Stallcup MR (1997) GRIP1, a transcriptional coactivator for the AF-2 transactivation domain of steroid, thyroid, retinoid, and vitamin D receptors. Mol Cell Biol 17: 2735-2744

Hong H, Kohli K, Trivedi A, Johnson DL and Stallcup MR (1996) GRIP1, a novel mouse protein that serves as a transcriptional coactivator in yeast for the hormone binding domains of steroid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 4948-4952

Hong Y, Rogers R, Matunis MJ, Mayhew CN, Goodson M, Park-Sarge O-K and Sarge KD (2001) Regulation of heat shock transcription factor 1 by stress-induced SUMO-1 modification. J Biol Chem 276: 40263-40267

Hörlein AJ, Näär AM, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Gloss B, Kurokawa R, Ryan A, Kamei Y, Södeström M, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (1995) Ligand-independent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature 377: 397-404

Htun H, Holth LT, Walker D, Davie JR and Hager GL (1999) Direct visualization of the human estrogen receptor α reveals a role for ligand in the nuclear distribution of the receptor. Mol Biol Cell 10: 471-486

Huang S-M and Stallcup MR (2000) Mouse Zac1, a transcriptional coactivator and repressor for nuclear receptors. Mol Cell Biol 20: 1855-1867

Ichinose H, Garnier J-M, Chambon P and Losson R (1997) Ligand-dependent interaction between the estrogen receptor and the human homologues of SWI2/SNF2. Gene 188: 95-100

Ihle JN (2001) The Stat family in cytokine signaling. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13: 211-217

Ikonen T, Palvimo JJ and Jänne OA (1997) Interactions between the amino- and carboxyl-terminal regions of the rat androgen receptor modulates transcriptional activity and is influenced by nuclear receptor coactivators. J Biol Chem 272: 29821-29828

Ishov AM, Sotnikov AG, Negorev D, Vladimirova OV, Neff N, Kamitani T, Yeh ETH, Strauss III JF and Maul GG (1999) PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein Daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1. J Cell Biol 147: 221-233

Israel A (2000) The IKK complex: an integrator of all signals that activate NF- κ B? Trends Cell Biol 10: 129-133

Ito M, Yuan C-X, Okano HJ, Darnell RB and Roeder RG (2000) Involvement of the TRAP220 component of the TRAP/SMCC coactivator complex in embryonic development and thyroid hormone action. Mol Cell 5: 683-693

Jackson PK (2001) A new RING for SUMO: wrestling transcriptional responses into nuclear bodies with PIAS family E3 SUMO ligases. Genes Dev 15: 3053-3058

Jackson TA, Richer JK, Bain DL, Takimoto GS, Tung L and Horwitz KB (1997) The partial agonist activity of antagonist-occupied steroid receptors is controlled by a novel hinge domain-binding coactivator L7/SPA and the corepressors N-CoR and SMRT. Mol Endorinol 11: 693-705

Jenster G, Trapman J and Brinkmann AO (1993) Nuclear import of the human androgen receptor. Biochem J 293: 761-768

Jin C, Shiyanova T, Shen Z and Liao X (2001) Heteronuclear nuclear magnetic resonance assignments, structure and dynamics of SUMO-1, a human ubiquitin-like protein. Int J Biol Macromol 28: 227-234

Joazeiro CAP and Weissman AM (2000) RING finger proteins: Mediators of ubiquitin ligase activity. Cell 102: 549-552

Joazeiro CAP, Wing SS, Huang H-k, Leverson JD, Hunter T and Liu Y-C (1999) The tyrosine kinase negative regulator c-Cbl as a RING-type E2-dependent ubiquitin-protein ligase. Science 286: 309-312

Johnson ES and Blobel G (1997) Ubc9p is the conjugating enzyme for the ubiquitin-like protein Smt3p. J Biol Chem 272: 26799-26802

Johnson ES and Blobel G (1999) Cell cycle-regulated attachment of the ubiquitin-related protein SUMO to the yeast septins. J Cell Biol 147: 981-993

Johnson ES and Gupta AA (2001) An E3-like factor that promotes SUMO conjugation to the yeast septins. Cell 106: 735-744

Johnson ES, Schwienhorst I, Dohmen RJ and Blobel G (1997) The ubiquitin-like protein Smt3p is activated for conjugation to other proteins by an Aos1p/Uba2p heterodimer. EMBO J 18: 5509-5519

Jones D, Crowe E, Stevens TA and Candido EPM (2001) Functional and phylogenetic analysis of the ubiquitylation system in Caenorhabditis elegans: ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, ubiquitin-activating enzymes, and ubiquitin-like proteins. Genome Biol 3(1): research0002

Joseph J, Tan S-H, Karpova TS, NcNally JG and Dasso M (2002) SUMO-1 targets RanGAP1 to kinetochores and mitotic spindles. J Cell Biol 156: 595-602

Junicho A, Matsuda T, Yamamoto T, Kishi H, Korkmaz K, Saatcioglu F, Fuse H and Muraguchi A (2000) Protein inhibitor of activated STAT3 regulates androgen receptor signaling in prostate carcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 278:9-13

Kahyo T, Nishida T and Yasuda H (2001) Involvement of PIAS1 in the sumoylation of tumor suppressor p53. Mol Cell 8: 713-718

Kamei Y, Xu L, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Kurokawa R, Gloss B, Lin SC, Heyman RA, Rose DW, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (1996) A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell 85: 403-414

Kamitani T, Kito K, Nguyen HP, Wada H, Fukuda-Kamitani T and Yeh ETH (1998b) Identification of three major sentrinization sites in PML. J Biol Chem 273: 26675-26682

Kamitani T, Nguyen HP and Yeh ETH (1997) Preferential modification of nuclear proteins by a novel ubiquitin-like molecule. J Biol Chem 272: 14001-14004

Kamitani T, Nguyen HP, Kito K, Fukuda-Kamitani T and Yeh ETH (1998a) Covalent modification of PML by the sentrin family of ubiquitin-like proteins. J Biol Chem 273: 3117-3120

Kamohara Y, Sugiyama N, Mizuguchi T, Inderbitzin D, Lilja H, Middleton Y, Neuman T, Demetriou AA and Rozga J (2000) Inhibition of signal transducer and activator transcription factor 3 in rats with acute hepatic failure. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273: 129-135

Karvonen U, Kallio PJ, Jänne OA and Palvimo JJ (1997) Interaction of androgen receptors with androgen response element in intact cells. J Biol Chem 272: 15973-15979

Kato S, Endoh H, Masuhiro Y, Kitamoto T, Uchiyama S, Sasaki H, Masushige S, Gotoh Y, Nishida E, Kawashima H, Metzger D and Chambon P (1995) Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 270: 1491-1494

Kelley TJ and Elmer HL (2000) In vivo alterations of IFN regulatory factor-1 and PIAS1 protein levels in cystic fibrosis epithelium. J Clin Invest 106: 403-410

Kim KI, Baek SH, Jeon Y-J, Nishimori S, Suzuki T, Uchida S, Shimbara N, Saitoh H, Tanaka K and Chung CH (2000) A new SUMO-1-specific protease, SUSP1, that is highly expressed in reproductive organs. J Biol Chem 275: 14102-14106

Kim YH, Choi CY and Kim Y (1999) Covalent modification of the homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2) by the ubiquitin-like protein SUMO-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 12350-12255

Klapisz E, Sorokina I, Lemeer S, Pijnenburg M, Verkleij AJ and van Bergen en Henegouwen PMP (2002) A Ubiquitin-interacting motif (UIM) is essential for Eps15 and Eps15R ubiquitination. J Biol Chem 277: 30746-30753

Koh SS, Chen D, Lee Y-H and Stallcup MR (2001) Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem 276: 1089-1098

Kotaja N, Aittomäki S, Silvennoinen O, Palvimo JJ, and Jänne OA (2000) ARIP3 (androgen receptorinteracting protein 3) and other PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT) proteins differ in their ability to modulate steroid receptor-dependent transcriptional activation. Mol Endocrinol 14: 1986-2000

Kotaja N, Karvonen U, Jänne OA, and Palvimo JJ (2002) PIAS proteins modulate transcription factors by functioning as SUMO-1 ligases. Mol Cell Biol 22: 5222-5234

Kraus WL, McInerney EM and Katzenellenbogen BS (1995) Ligand-dependent, transcriptionally productive association of the amino- and carboxyl-terminal regions of a steroid hormone nuclear receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 12314-12318

Kuryshev YA, Gudz TI, Brown AM and Wible BA (2000) KChAP as a chaperone for specific K+ channels. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 278: C931-C941

Kwek SSS, Derry J, Tyner AL, Shen Z and Gudkov AV (2001) Functional analysis and intracellular localization of p53 modified by SUMO-1. Oncogene 20: 2587-2599

Lange CA, Shen T and Horwitz KB (2000) Phosphorylation of human progesterone receptors at serine-294 by mitogen-activated protein kinase signals their degradation by the 26S proteasome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 1032-1037

Lanz RB, McKenna NJ, Onate SA, Albrecht U, Wong J, Tsai S, Tsai M-J and O'Malley BW (1999) A steroid receptor coactivator, SRA, functions as an RNA and is present in an SRC-1 complex. Cell 97: 17-27

Lee Y-F, Shyr C-R, Thin TH, Lin W-J and Chang C (1999) Convergence of two repressors through heterodimer formation of androgen receptor and testicular orphan receptor-4: a unique signaling pathway in the steroid receptor superfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 14724-14729

Lehembre F, Müller S, Pandolfi PP and Dejean A (2001) Regulation of Pax3 transcriptional activity by SUMO-1-modified PML. Oncogene 20: 1-9

Lehming N, Saux AL, Schüller J and Ptashne M (1998) Chromatin components as part of a putative transcriptional repressing complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 7322-7326

Leo C and Chen JD (2000) The SRC family of nuclear receptor coactivators. Gene 245: 1-11

Leonard WJ and O'Shea JJ (1998) JAKS and STATS: biological implications. Annu Rev Immunol 16: 293-322

Levy C, Nechushtan H and Razin E (2002) A new role for the STAT3 inhibitor, PIAS3. J Biol Chem 277: 1962-1966

Li H, Gomes PJ and Chen JD (1997) RAC3, a steroid/nuclear receptor-associated coactivator that is related to SRC-1 and TIF2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 8479-8484

Li H, Leo C, Zhu J, Wu X, O'Neil J, Park E-J and Chen JD (2000) Sequestration and inhibition of Daxxmediated transcriptional repression by PML. Mol Cell Biol 20: 1784-1796

Li S-J and Hochstrasser (2000) The yeast ULP2 (SMT4) gene encodes a novel protease specific for the ubiquitin-like Smt3 protein. Mol Cell Biol 20: 2367-2377

Li S-J and Hochstrasser M (1999) A new protease required for cell-cycle progression in yeast. Nature 398:246-251

Liao J, Fu Y and Shuai K (2000) Distinct roles of the NH₂- and COOH-terminal domains of the protein inhibitor of activated signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 1 (PIAS1) in cytokine-induced PIAS1-Stat1 interaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 5267-5272

Lim CS, Baumann CT, Htun H, Xian W, Irie M, Smith CL and Hager GL (1999) Differential localization and activity of the A- and B-forms of the human progesterone receptor using green fluorescent protein chimeras. Mol Endocrinol 13: 366-375

Lin D, Tatham MH, Yu B, Kim S, Hay RT and Chen Y (2002) Identification of a substrate recognition site on Ubc9. J Biol Chem 277: 21740-21748

Liu B and Shuai K (2001) Induction of apoptosis by protein inhibitor of activated Stat1 through c-Jun NH2terminal kinase activation. J Biol Chem 276: 36624-36631

Liu B, Gross M, Hoeve JT and Shuai K (2001) A transcriptional corepressor of Stat1 with an essential LXXLL signature motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 3203-3207

Liu B, Liao J, Xiaoping R, Kushner SA, Chung CD, Chang DD and Shuai K (1998) Inhibition of Stat1mediated gene activation by PIAS1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 10626–10631

Liu Q, Jin C, Liao X, Shen Z, Chen DJ and Chen Y (1999) The binding interface between an E2 (UBC9) and a ubiquitin homologue (UBL1). J Biol Chem 274: 16979-16987

Liu W, Wang J, Sauter NK and Pearce D (1995) Steroid receptor heterodimerization demonstrated in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 12480-12484

Lonard DM, Nawaz Z, Smith CL and O'Malley BW (2000) The 26S proteasome is required for estrogen receptor- α and coactivator turnover and for efficient estrogen receptor- α transactivation. Mol Cell 5: 939-948

Lopez GN, Turck CW, Schaufele F, Stallcup MR and Kushner PJ (2001) Growth factors signal to steroid receptors through mitogen-activated protein kinase regulation of p160 coactivator activity. J Biol Chem 276: 22177-22182

Lopez-Otin C and Diamandis EP (1998) Breast and prostate cancer: an analysis of common epidemiological, genetic and biochemical features. Endocr Rev 19: 365-396

Lorick KL, Jensen JP, Fang S, Ong AM, Hatakeyama S and Weissman AM (1999) RING fingers mediate ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2)-dependent ubiquitination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 11364-11369

Lu H, Zawel L, Fisher L, Egly JM and Reinberg D (1992) Human general transcription factor IIH phosphorylates the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. Nature 358: 641-645

Lu S, Liu M, Epner DE, Tsai SY and Tsai MJ (1999) Androgen regulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 gene through an androgen response element in the proximal promoter. Mol Endocrinol 13: 376-384

Lu S, Tsai SY and Tsai MJ (1997) Regulation of androgen-dependent prostatic cancer cell growth: androgen regulation of CDK2, CDK4 and CKI p16 genes. Cancer Res 57: 4511-4516

Lubahn DB, Joseph DR, Sullivan PM, Willard HF, French FS and Wilson EM (1988) Cloning of human androgen receptor complementary DNA and localization to the X chromosome. Science 240: 327-330

Luisi BF, Xu WX, Otwinowski Z, Freedman LP, Yamamoto KR, Sigler PB (1991) Crystallographic analysis of the interaction of the glucocorticoid receptor with DNA. Nature 352: 497-505

Ma H, Hong H, Huang S-M, Irvine RA, Webb P, Kushner PJ, Coetzee GA and Stallcup MR (1999) Multiple signal input and output domains of the 160-kilodalton nuclear receptor coactivator proteins. Mol Cell Biol 19: 6164-6173

Mahajan R, Delphin C, Guan T, Gerace L and Melchior F (1997) A small ubiquitin-related polypeptide involved in targeting RanGAP1 to nuclear pore complex protein RanBP2. Cell 88: 97-107

Mangelsdorf DJ, Thummel C, Beato M, Herrlich P, Schütz G, Umesono K, Blumberg B, Kastner P, Mark M, Chambon P and Evans RM (1995) The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell 83: 835-839

Mao Y, Desai SD and Liu LF (2000a) SUMO-1 conjugation to human DNA topoisomerase II isozymes. J Biol Chem 275: 26066-26073

Mao Y, Sun M, Desai SD and Liu LF (2000b) SUMO-1 conjugation to topoisomerase I: a possible repair response to topoisomerase-mediated DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 4046-4051

Matunis MJ, Coutavas E and Blobel G (1996) A novel ubiquitin-like modification modulates the partitioning of the Ran-GTPase-activating protein RanGAP1 between the cytosol and the nuclear pore complex. J Cell Biol 135: 1457-1470

Maul GG, Negorev D, Bell P and Ishov AM (2000) Properties and assembly mechanisms of ND10, PML bodies or PODs. J Struct Biol 129: 278-287

McKenna NJ and O'Malley BW (2002) Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. Cell 108: 465-474

McKenna NJ, Rainer BL and O'Malley BW (1999) Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocr Rev 20: 321-344

McPhaul MJ (1999) Molecular defects of the androgen receptor. J Steroid Biochem 69: 315-322

Megidish T, Xu JH, Xu CW (2002) Activation of p53 by protein inhibitor of activated Stat1 (PIAS1). J Biol Chem 277: 8255-8259

Melchior F (2000) SUMO - nonclassical ubiquitin. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16: 591-626

Melchior F and Hengst L (2000) Mdm2-SUMO1: is bigger better? Nat Cell Biol 2: E161-E163

Minty A, Dumont X, Kaghad M and Caput D (2000) Covalent modification of $p73\alpha$ by SUMO-1. J Biol Chem 275: 36316-36323

Missero C, Pirro MT, Simeone S, Pischetola M and Di Lauro R (2001) The DNA glycosylase T:G mismatchspecific thymine DNA glycosylase represses thyroid transcription factor-1-activated transcription. J Biol Chem 276: 33569-33575

Mohr SE and Boswell RE (1999) Zimp encodes a homologue of mouse Miz1 and PIAS3 and is an essential gene in Drosophila melanogaster. Gene 229: 109-118

Moilanen A-M, Karvonen U, Poukka H, Jänne OA and Palvimo JJ (1998b) Activation of androgen receptor function by a novel nuclear protein kinase. Mol Biol Cell 9: 2527-2543

Moilanen A-M, Karvonen U, Poukka H, Yan W, Toppari J, Jänne OA and Palvimo JJ (1999) A testisspecific androgen receptor coregulator that belongs to a novel family of nuclear proteins. J Biol Chem 274:3700-3704

Moilanen A-M, Poukka H, Karvonen U, Häkli M, Jänne OA and Palvimo JJ (1998a) Identification of a novel RING finger protein as a coregulator in steroid receptor-mediated gene transcription. Mol Cell Biol 18: 5128-5139

Moras D and Gronemeyer H (1998) The nuclear receptor ligand-binding domain: structure and function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 10: 384-391

Mowen KA, Tnag J, Zhu W, Schurter BT, Shuai K, Herschman HR and David M (2001) Arginine methylation of STAT1 modulates $IFN\alpha/\beta$ -induced transcription. Cell 104: 731-741

Müller S, Berger M Lehembre F, Seeler J-S, Haupt Y and Dejean A (2000) c-Jun and p53 activity is modulated by SUMO-1 modification. J Biol Chem 275: 13321-13329

Müller S, Hoege C, Pyrowolakis G and Jentsch S (2001) SUMO, ubiquitin's mysterious cousin. Nature Rev 2: 202-210

Müller S, Matunis MJ and Dejean A (1998) Conjugation with the ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1 regulates the partitioning of PML within the nucleus. EMBO J 17: 61-70

Murtha P, Tindall DJ and Young CY (1993) Androgen induction of a human prostate-specific kallikrein, hKLK2: characterization of an androgen response element in the 5' promoter region of the gene. Biochemistry 32: 6459-6464

Nagy L, Kao H-Y, Chakravarti D, Lin RJ, Hassig CA, Ayer DE, Schreiber ST and Evans RM (1997) Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMTR, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell 89: 373-380

Nawaz Z, Lonard DM, Dennis AP, Smith CL and O'Malley B (1999b) Proteasome-dependent degradation of the human estrogen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 1858-1862

Nawaz Z, Lonard DM, Smith CL, Lev-Lehman E, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J and O'Malley B (1999a) The angelman syndrome-associated protein, E6-AP, is a coactivator for the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily. Mol Cell Biol 19: 1182-1189

Nelson V, Davis GE and Maxwell SA (2001) A putative protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIASy) interacts with p53 and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation but not apoptosis. Apoptosis 6: 221-34

Nolte RT, Wisely GB, Westin S, Cobb JE, Lambert MH, Kurokawa R, Rosenfeld MG, Willson TM, Glass CK and Milburn MV (1998) Ligand binding and co-activator assembly of the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-γ. Nature 395: 137-143

Ogryzko VV, Schiltz RL, Russanova V, Howard BH and Nakatani Y (1996) The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell 87: 953-959

Ohmine K, Ota J, Ueda M, Ueno S, Yoshida K, Yamashita Y, Kirito K, Imagawa S, Nakamura Y, Saito K, Akutsu M, Mitani K, Kano Y, Komatsu N, Ozawa K and Mano H (2001) Characterization of stage progression in chronic myeloid leukemia by DNA microarray with purified hematopoietic stem cells. Oncogene 20: 8249-8257

Okuma T, Honda R, Ichikawa G, Tsumagari N and Yasuda H (1999) In vitro SUMO-1 modification requires two enzymatic steps, E1 and E2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 254: 694-698

Onate SA, Boonyaratanakornkit V, Spencer TE, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J, Edwards DP and O'Malley BW (1998) The steroid receptor coactivator-1 contains multiple receptor interacting and activation domains that cooperatively enhance the activation functions 1 (AF1) and AF2 domains of steroid receptors. J Biol Chem 273: 12101-12108

Oñate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J and O'Malley BW (1995) Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 270: 1354-1357

Orphanides G and Reinberg D (2002) A unified theory of gene expression. Cell 108: 439-451

Orphanides G, Lagrange T and Reinberg D (1996) The general transcription factors of RNA polymerase II. Genes Dev 10: 2657-2683

Ostendorff HP, Peirano RI, Peters MA, Schlüter A, Bossenz M, Scheffner M and Bach I (2002) Ubiquitination-dependent cofactor exchange on LIM homeodomain transcription factors. Nature 416: 99-103

Picard D and Yamamoto KR (1987) Two signals mediate hormone-dependent nuclear localization of the glucocorticoid receptor. EMBO J 6: 3333-3340

Pichler A, Gast A, Seeler JS, Dejean A and Melchior F (2002) The nucleoporin RanBP2 has SUMO1 E3 ligase activity. Cell 108:109-120

Polo S, Sigismund S, Faretta M, Guidi M, Capua MR, Bossi G, Chen H, De Camilli P and Di Fiore PP (2002) A single motif responsible for ubiquitin recognition and monoubiquitination in endocytic proteins. Nature 416: 451-455

Poukka H, Karvonen U, Jänne OA and Palvimo JJ (2000) Covalent modification of the androgen receptor by small ubiquitin-like modifier 1 (SUMO-1). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:14145-14150

Pratt WB and Toft DO (1997) Steroid receptor interactions with heat shock protein and immunophilin chaperones. Endocr Rev 18: 305-360

Puigserver P, Wu Z, Park CW, Graves R , Wright M and Spiegelman BM (1998) A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. Cell 92: 829-839

Quigley CA, De Bellis A, Marschke KB, El-Awady MK, Wilson EM and French FS (1995) Androgen receptor defects: historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. Endocr Rev 16: 271-320

Rachez C, Lemon BD, Suldan Z, Bromleigh V, Gamble M, Näär AM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P and Freedman LP (1999) Ligand-dependent transcriptional activation by nuclear receptors requires the DRIP complex. Nature 398: 824-828

Rachez C, Suldan Z, Ward J, Chang C-P B, Burakov D, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P and Freedman LP (1998) A novel protein complex that interacts with the vitamin D3 receptor in a ligand-dependent manner and enhances VDR transactivation in a cell-free system. Genes Dev 12: 1787-1800

Raiborg C, Bache KG, Gillooly DJ, Madshus IH, Stang E and Stenmark H (2002) Hrs sorts ubiquitinated proteins into clathrin-coated microdomains of early endosomes. Nat Cell Biol 4: 394-398

Ray A and Prefontaine KE (1994) Physical association and functional antagonism between the p65 subunit of transcription factor NF-kappa B and the glucocorticoid receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 752-756

Renaud JP, Rochel N, Ruff M, Vivat V, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H and Moras D (1995) Crystal structure of the RAR-gamma ligand-binding domain bound to all-trans retinoic acid. Nature 378: 681-689

Rennie PS, Bruchovsky N, Leco KJ, Sheppard PC, McQueen SA, Cheng H, Snoek R, Hamel A, Bock ME, MacDonald BS, Nickel BE, Chang C, Liao S, Cattini PA and Matusik RJ (1993) Characterization of two cisacting DNA elements involved in the androgen regulation of the probasin gene. Mol Endocrinol 7: 23-36

Renz A and Fackelmayer FO (1996) Purification and molecular cloning of the scaffold attachment factor B (SAF-B), a novel human nuclear protein that specifically binds to S/MAR-DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 24: 843-849

Rödel B, Tavassoli K, Karsunky H, Schmidt T, Bachmann M, Schaper F, Heinrich P, Shuai K, Elsässer HP and Möröy T (2000) The zinc finger protein Gfi-1 can enhance STAT3 signaling by interacting with the STAT3 inhibitor PIAS3. EMBO J 19: 5845-5855

Rodriguez MS, Dargemont C and Hay RT (2001) SUMO-1 conjugation *in vivo* requires both a consensus modification motif and nuclear targeting. J Biol Chem 276: 12654-12659

Rodriguez MS, Desterro JMP, Lain S, Midgley CA, Lane DP and Hay RT (1999) SUMO-1 modification activates the transcriptional response of p53. EMBO J 18: 6455-6461

Romig H, Fackelmayer FO, Renz A, Ramsperger U and Richter A (1992) Characterization of SAF-A, a novel nuclear DNA binding protein from HeLa cells with high affinity for nuclear matrix/scaffold attachment DNA elements. EMBO J 11: 3431-3440

Rowan BG, Garrison N, Weigel NL and O'Malley BW (2000) 8-bromo-cyclic AMP induces phosphorylation of two sites in SRC-1 that facilitate ligand-independent activation of the chicken progesterone receptor and are critical for functional cooperation between SRC-1 and CREB binding protein. Mol Cell Biol 20: 8720-8730

Sachdev S, Bruhn L, Sieber H, Pichler A, Melchior F and Grosschedl R (2001) PIASy, a nuclear matrixassociated SUMO E3 ligase, represses LEF1 activity by sequestration into nuclear bodies. Genes Dev 15:3088-3103

Sackey FNA, Haché RJG, Reich T, Kwast-Welfeld J and Lefebvre YA (1996) Determinants of subcellular distribution of the glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Endocrinol 10: 1191-1205

Sahara S, Aoto M, Eguchi Y, Imamoto N, Yoneda Y and Tsujimoto Y (1999) Acinus is a caspase-3-activated protein required for apoptotic chromatin condensation. Nature 401: 168-173

Saitoh H and Hinchey J (2000) Functional heterogeneity of small ubiquitin-related protein modifiers SUMO-1 versus SUMO-2/3. J Biol Chem 275: 6252-6258

Saitoh H, Pu R, Cavenagh M and Dasso M (1997) RanBP2 associates with Ubc9p and a modified form of RanGAP1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 3736-3741

Saitoh H, Sparrow DB, Shiomi T, Pu RT, Nishimoto T, Mohun TJ and Dasso M (1998) Ubc9p and the conjugation of SUMO-1 to RanGAP1 and RanBP2. Curr Biol 8: 121-124

Sakai DD, Helms S, Carlstedt-Duke J, Gustafsson J-Å, Rottman FM, Yamamoto KR (1988) Hormonemediated repression: a negative glucocorticoid response element from the bovine prolactin gene. Genes Dev 2: 1144-1154

Salghetti SE, Caudy AA, Chenoweth JG and Tansey WP (2001) Regulation of transcriptional activation domain function by ubiquitin. Science 293: 1651-1653

Sampson DA, Wang M and Matunis JM (2001) The small ubiquitin-like modifier-1 (SUMO-1) consensus sequence mediates Ubc9 binding and is essential for SUMO-1 modification. J Biol Chem 276: 21664-21669

Schmidt D and Müller S (2002) Members of the PIAS family act as SUMO ligases for c-Jun and p53 and repress p53 activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99: 2872-2877

Schoenmakers E, Alen P, Verrijdt G, Peeters B, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Claessens F (1999) Differential DNA binding by the androgen and glucocorticoid receptors involves the second Zn-finger and a C-terminal extension of the DNA-binding domains. Biochem J 341: 515-521

Schoenmakers E, Verrijdt G, Peeters B, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Claessens F (2000) Differences in DNA binding characteristics of the androgen and glucocorticoid receptors can determine hormone-specific responses. J Biol Chem 275: 12290-12297

Schüle R, Rangarajan P, Kliewer S, Ransone LJ, Bolado J, Yang N, Verma IM and Evans RM (1990) Functional antagonism between oncoprotein c-Jun and the glucocorticoid receptor. Cell 62: 1217-1226

Schurter BT, Koh SS, Chen D, Bunick GJ, Harp JM, Hanson L, Henschen-Edman A, Mackay DR, Stallcup MR and Aswad DW (2001) Methylation of histone H3 by coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1. Biochemistry 40: 5747-5756

Schwabe JW, Neuhaus D and Rhodes D (1990) Solution structure of the DNA-binding domain of the oestrogen receptor. Nature 348: 458-461

Schwabe JW, Chapman L, Finch JT and Rhodes D (1993) The crystal structure of the estrogen receptor DNA-binding domain bound to DNA: how receptors discriminate between their response elements. Cell 75: 567-578

Schwarz SE, Matuschewski K, Liakopoulos D, Scheffner M and Jentsch S (1998) The ubiquitin-like proteins SMT3 and SUMO-1 are conjugated by the UBC9 E2 enzyme. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 560-564

Seeler J-S, Marchio A, Losson R, Desterro JMP, Hay RT, Chambon P and Dejean A (2001) Common properties of nuclear body protein SP100 and TIF1 α chromatin factor: role of SUMO modification. Mol Cell Biol 21: 3314-3324

Seeler J-S, Marchio A, Sitterlin D, Transy C and Dejean A (1998) Interaction of SP100 with HP1 proteins: a link between the promyelocytic leukemia-associated nuclear bodies and the chromatin compartments. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 7316-7321

Serizawa H, Conaway RC and Conaway JW (1992) A carboxyl-terminal-domain kinase associated with RNA polymerase II transcription factor delta from rat liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89: 7476-7480

Seufert W, Futcher B and Jentsch S (1995) Role of a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme in degradation of S- and M-phase cyclins. Nature 373: 78-81

Shang Y, Hu X, DiRenzo J, Lazar MA and Brown M (2000) Cofactor dynamics and sufficiency in estrogen receptor-regulated transcription. Cell 103: 843-852

Shiau AK, Barstad D, Loria PM, Cheng L, Kushner PJ, Agard DA and Greene GL (1998) The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this interaction by tamoxifen. Cell 95: 927-937

Shih SC, Katzmann DJ, Schnell JD, Sutanto M, Emr SD and Hicke L (2002) Epsins and Vps27p/Hrs contain ubiquitin-binding domains that function in receptor endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 4: 389-393

Simental JA, Sar M, Lane MV, French FS and Wilson EM (1991) Transcriptional activation and nuclear targeting signals of the human androgen receptor. J Biol Chem 266: 510-518

Smith CL, De Vera DG, Lamb DJ, Nawaz Z, Jiang Y-H, Beaudet AL and O'Malley BW (2002) Genetic ablation of the steroid receptor coactivator-ubiquitin ligase, E6-AP, results in tissue-selective steroid hormone resistance and defects in reproduction. Mol Cell Biol 22: 525-535

Smith CL, Nawaz Z and O'Malley BW (1997) Coactivator and corepressor regulation of the agonist/antagonist activity of the mixed antiestrogen, 4-hydroxytamoxifen. Mol Endocrinol 11: 657-666

Spencer TE, Jenster G, Burcin MM, Allis CD, Zhou J, Mizzen CA, McKenna NJ, Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J and O'Malley MW (1997) Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature 389: 194-198

Spencer VA and Davie JR (1999) Role of covalent modifications of histones in regulating gene expression. Gene 240: 1-12

Stallcup MR (2001) Role of protein methylation in chromatin remodeling and transcriptional regulation. Oncogene 20: 3014-3020

Sternsdorf T, Jensen K and Will H (1997) Evidence for covalent modification of the nuclear dot-associated proteins PML and Sp100 by PIC1/SUMO-1. J Cell Biol 139: 1621-1634

Sternsdorf T, Jensen K, Reich B and Will H (1999) The nuclear dot protein Sp100, characterization of domains necessary for dimerization, subcellular localization, and modification by small ubiquitin-like modifiers. J Biol Chem 274: 12555-12566

Strahl BD, Briggs SD, Brame CJ, Caldwell JA, Koh SS, Ma H, Cook RG, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Stallcup MR and Allis CD (2001) Methylation of histone H4 at arginine 3 occurs in vivo and is mediated by the nuclear receptor coactivator PRMT1. Curr Biol 11: 996-1000

Struhl K (1998) Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev 12: 599-606

Strunnikov AV, Aravind L and Koonin EV (2001) *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* SMT3 encodes an evolutionarily conserved protease with a role in chromosome condensation regulation. Genetics 158: 95-107

Sturm S, Koch M and White FA (2000) Cloning and analysis of a murine PIAS family member, PIASγ, in developing skin and neurons. J Mol Neurosci 14: 107-121

Sturm S, Koch M and White FA (2001) Genomic organization of the gene for mouse PIAS γ and analysis of its promoter. Gene 266: 123-130

Subramaniam N, Treuter E and Okret S (1999) Receptor interacting protein RIP140 inhibits both positive and negative gene regulation by glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 274: 18121-18127

Suzuki T, Ichiyama A, Saitoh H, Kawakami T, Omata M, Chung CH, Kimura M, Shimbara N and Tanaka K (1999) A new 30-kDa ubiquitin-related SUMO-1 hydrolase from bovine brain. J Biol Chem 274:31131-31134

Takahashi K, Taira T, Niki T, Seino C, Iguchi-Ariga SMM and Ariga H (2001a) DJ-1 positively regulates the androgen receptor by impairing the binding of PIASx α to the receptor. J Biol Chem 276: 37556-37563

Takahashi Y, Kahyo T, Toh-e A, Yasuda H and Kikuchi Y (2001b) Yeast Ull1/Siz1 is a novel SUMO1/Smt3 ligase for septin components and functions as an adaptor between conjugating enzyme and substrate. J Biol Chem 276: 48973-48977

Takahashi Y, Toh-e A and Kikuchi Y (2001c) A novel factor required for the SUMO1/Smt3 conjugation of yeast septins. Gene 275: 223-231

Takeshita A, Cardona GR, Koibuchi N, Suen C-S and Chin WW (1997) TRAM-1, a novel 160-kDa thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule, exhibits distinct properties from steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 272: 27629-27634

Tan J, Hall SH, Hamil KG, Grossman G, Petrusz P, Liao J, Shuai K and French FS (2000) Protein inhibitor of activated STAT-1 (signal transducer and activator of transcription-1) is a nuclear receptor coregulator expressed in human testis. Mol Endocrinol 14:14-26

Tan J-A, Hall S, Hamil KG, Grossman G, Petrusz P and French FS (2002) Protein inhibitors of activated STAT resemble scaffold attachment factors and function as interacting nuclear receptor coregulators. J Biol Chem 277: 16993-17001

Tanaka K, Nishide J, Okazaki K, Kato H, Niwa O, Nakagawa T, Matsuda H, Kawamukai M and Murakami Y (1999) Characterization of a fission yeast SUMO-1 homologue, Pmt3p, required for multiple nuclear events, including the control of telomere length and chromosome segregation. Mol Cell Biol 19: 8660-8672

Tatham MH, Jaffray E, Vaughan OA, Desterro JMP, Botting CH, Naismith JH and Hay RT (2001) Polymeric chains of SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 are conjugated to protein substrates by SAE1/SAE2 and Ubc9. J Biol Chem 276: 35368-35374

Thomas D and Tyers M (2000) Transcriptional regulation: Kamikaze activators. Curr Biol 10: R341-R343

Thrower JS, Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M and Pickart CM (2000) Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. EMBO J 19: 94-102

Tora L, White J, Brou C, Tasset D, Webster N, Scheer E and Chambon P (1989) The human estrogen receptor has two independent nonacidic transcriptional activation functions. Cell 59: 477-487

Torchia J, Rose DW, Inostroza J, Kamei Y, Westin S, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (1997) The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. Nature 387: 677-684

Trapp T, Rupprecht R, Castren M, Reul JM and Holsboer F (1994) Heterodimerization between mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptor: a new principle of glucocorticoid action in the CNS. Neuron 13: 1457-1462

Tremblay A, Tremblay GB, Labrie F and Giguere V (1999) Ligand-independent recruitment of SRC-1 to estrogen receptor β through phosphorylation of activation function AF-1. Mol Cell 3: 513-519

Treuter E, Albrektsen T, Johansson L, Leers J and Gustafsson J-Å (1998) A regulator role for RIP140 in nuclear receptor activation. Mol Endocrinol 12: 864-881

Ueki N, Seki N, Yano K, Saito T, Masuho Y and Muramatsu M-a (1999) Isolation and chromosomal assignment of a human gene encoding protein inhibitor of activated STAT3 (PIAS3). J Hum Genet 44: 193-196

Valdez BC, Henning D, Perlaky L, Busch RK and Busch H (1997) Cloning and characterization of Gu/RH-II binding protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 234:335-40

Verrijdt G, Schoenmakers E, Haelens A, Peeters B, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Claessens F (2000) Change of specificity mutations in androgen-selective enhancers. J Biol Chem 275: 12298-12305

Voegel JJ, Heine MJS, Tini M, Vivat V, Chambon P and Gronemeyer H (1998) The coactivator TIF2 contains three nuclear receptor-binding motifs and mediates transactivation through CBP binding-dependent and -independent pathways. EMBO J 17: 507-519

Voegel JJ, Heine MJS, Zechel C, Chambon P and Gronemeyer H (1996) TIF2, a 160 kDa transcriptional mediator for the ligand-dependent activation function AF-2 of nuclear receptors. EMBO J: 15: 3667-3675

Wagner BL, Norris JD, Knotts TA, Weigel NL and McDonnell DP (1998) The nuclear corepressors NCoR and SMRT are key regulators of both ligand- and 8-bromo-cyclic AMP-dependent transcriptional activity of the human progesterone receptor. Mol Cell Biol 18: 1369-1378

Wagner RL, Apriletti JW, McGrath ME, West BL, Baxter JD and Fletterick RJ (1995) A structural role for hormone in the thyroid hormone receptor. Nature 378: 690-697

Wallace AD and Cidlowski JA (2001) Proteasome-mediated glucocorticoid receptor degradation restricts transcriptional signaling by glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 276: 42714-42721

Wallberg AE, Neely KE, Gustafsson J-Å, Workman JL, Wright APH and Grant PA (1999) Histone acetyltransferase complexes can mediate transcriptional activation by the major glucocorticoid receptor activation domain. Mol Cell Biol 19: 5952-5959

Wang C, Fu M, Angeletti RH, Siconolfi-Baez L, Reutens AT, Albanese C, Lisanti MP, Katzenellenbogen BS, Kato S, Hopp T, Fuqua SAW, Lopez GN, Kushner PJ and Pestell RG (2001a) Direct acetylation of the estrogen receptor α hinge region by p300 regulates transactivation and hormone sensitivity. J Biol Chem 276: 18375-18383

Wang LH, Yang XY, Mihalic K, Xiao W, Li D and Farra WL (2001b) Activation of estrogen receptor blocks interleukin-6-inducible cell growth of human multiple myeloma involving molecular cross-talk between estrogen receptor and STAT3 mediated by co-regulator PIAS3. J Biol Chem 276: 31839-31844

Weigel NL (1996) Steroid hormone receptors and their regulation by phosphorylation. Biochem J 319: 657-667

Weigel NL and Zhang Y (1998) Ligand-independent activation of steroid hormone receptors. J Mol Med 76: 469-479

Weiskirchen R, Moser M, Weiskirchen S, Erdel M, Dahmen S, Buettner R and Gressner AM (2001) LIMdomain protein cysteine- and glycine-rich protein 2 (CRP2) is a novel marker of hepatic stellate cells and binding partner of the protein inhibitor of activated STAT1. Biochem J 359: 485-496

Weissman AM (2001) Themes and variations on ubiquitylation. Nature Rev 2: 169-178

Wible BA, Wang L, Kuryshev YA, Basu A, Haldar S and Brown AM (2002) Increased K+ efflux and apoptosis induced by the potassium channel modulatory protein KChAP/PIAS3 β in prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 277: 17852-17862

Wible BA, Yang Q, Kuryshev YA, Accili EA and Brown AM (1998) Cloning and expression of a novel K+ channel regulatory protein, KChAP. J Biol Chem 273: 11745-11751

Williams SP and Sigler PB (1998) Atomic structure of progesterone complexed with its receptor. Nature 393: 392-396

Woychik NA and Hampsey M (2002) The RNA polymerase II machinery: structure illuminates function. Cell 108: 453-463

Wu G, Lee W-H and Chen P-L (2000) NBS1 and TRF1 colocalize at promyelocytic leukemia bodies during late S/G_2 phases in immortalized telomerase-negative cells. J Biol Chem 275: 30618-30622

Wu L, Wu H, Ma L, Sangiorgi F, Wu N, Bell JR, Lyons GE and Maxson R (1997) Miz1, a novel zinc finger transcription factor that interacts with Msx2 and enhances its affinity for DNA. Mech Dev 65:3-17

Wurtz JM, Bourguet W, Renaud JP, Vivat V, Chambon P, Moras D and Gronemeyer H (1996) A canonical structure for the ligand-binding domain of nuclear receptors. Nat Struct Biol 3: 87-94

Xu HE, Stanley TB, Montana VG, Lambert MH, Shearer BG, Cobb JE, McKee DD, Galardi CM, Plunket KD, Nolte RT, Parks DJ, Moore JT, Kliewer SA, Willson TM and Stimmel JB (2002) Structural basis for antagonist-mediated recruitment of nuclear co-repressors by PPARα. Nature 415: 813-817

Xu J, Liao L, Ning G, Yoshida-Komiya H, Deng C and O'Malley BW (2000) The steroid receptor coactivator SRC-3 (p/CIP/RAC3/AIB1/ACTR/TRAM-1) is required for normal growth, puberty, female reproductive function, and mammary gland development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 6379-6384

Xu J, Qiu Y, DeMayo FJ, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J and O'Malley BW (1998) Partial hormone resistance in mice with disruption of the steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) gene. Science 279: 1922-1925

Xu W, Chen H, Du K, Asahara H, Tini M, Emerson BM, Montminy M and Evans RM (2001) A transcriptional switch mediated by cofactor methylation. Science 294: 2507-2511

Yao T-P, Oh SP, Fuchs M, Zhou N-D, Ch'ng L-E, Newsome D, Bronson RT, Li E, Livingston DM and Eckner R (1998) Gene dosage-dependent embryonic development and proliferation defects in mice lacking the transcriptional integrator p300. Cell 93: 361-372

Yeh ETH, Gong L and Kamitani T (2000) Ubiquitin-like proteins: new wines in new bottles. Gene 248: 1-14

Yoshinaga SK, Peterson CL, Herskowitz I and Yamamoto KR (1992) Roles of SWI1, SWI2 and SWI3 proteins for transcriptional enhancement by steroid receptors. Science 258: 1598-1604

Yuan C-X, Ito M, Fondell JD, Fu Z-Y and Roeder RG (1998) The TRAP220 component of a thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein (TRAP) coactivator complex interacts directly with nuclear receptors in a ligand-dependent fashion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 7939-7944

Zentner MD, Lin HH, Deng H-T, Kim K-J, Shih H-M and Ann DK (2001) Requirement for high mobility group protein HMGI-C interaction with STAT3 inhibitor PIAS3 in repression of α -subunit of epithelial Na+ Channel (α -ENaC) transcription by ras activation in salivary epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 276: 29805-29814

Zhang M, Magit D and Sager R (1997) Expression of maspin in prostate cells is regulated by a positive Ets element and a negative hormonal responsive element site recognized by androgen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 5673-5678

Zhang Q, Raghunath PN, Xue L, Majewski M, Carpentieri DF, Odum N, Morris S, Skorski T and Wasik MA (2002) Multilevel dysregulation of STAT3 activation in anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive T/null-cell lymphoma. J Immunol 168: 466-474

Zhang X, Jeyakumar M, Petukhov S and Bagchi MK (1998) A nuclear receptor corepressor modulates transcriptional activity of antagonist-occupied steroid hormone receptor. Mol Endocrinol 12: 513-524

Zhong S, Müller S, Ronchetti S, Freemont PS, Dejean A and Pandolfi PP (2000) Role of SUMO-1-modified PML in nuclear body formation. Blood 95: 2748-2753

Zhou Z, Corden JL and Brown TR (1997) Identification and characterization of a novel androgen response element composed of a direct repeat. J Biol Chem 272: 8227-8235

Zhou ZX, Sar M, Simental JA, Lane MV and Wilson EM (1994) A ligand-dependent bipartite nuclear targeting signal in the human androgen receptor. Requirement for the DNA-binding domain and modulation by NH2-terminal and carboxyl-terminal sequences. J Biol Chem 269: 13115-13123

Zuber J, Tchernitsa OI, Hinzmann B, Schmitz A-C, Grips M, Hellriegel M, Sers C, Rosenthal A and Schäfer R (2000) A genome-wide survey of RAS transformation targets. Nat Genet 24: 144-152